

Wayne State University

Wayne State University Dissertations

1-1-2016

Urban African American Youths' Academic Performance As Related To Fathers' Involvement During Development

Travis A. Goldwire *Wayne State University*,

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations Part of the <u>Clinical Psychology Commons</u>, and the <u>Developmental Psychology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Goldwire, Travis A., "Urban African American Youths' Academic Performance As Related To Fathers' Involvement During Development" (2016). *Wayne State University Dissertations*. 1534. https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations/1534

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.



URBAN AFRICAN AMERICAN YOUTHS' ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE AS RELATED TO THEIR FATHERS' INVOLVEMENT DURING DEVELOPMENT

by

TRAVIS A. GOLDWIRE

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

2016

MAJOR: PSYCHOLOGY (Clinical)

Approved By:

Advisor

Date

Committee Member

Date

Committee Member

Date

Committee Member

Date



www.manaraa.com

© COPYRIGHT BY

TRAVIS A. GOLDWIRE

2016

All Rights Reserved



DEDICATION

This manuscript is dedicated to my partner Matthew, for your encouragement, love, and fierce unwavering belief in me as I went through this process, even when I was mentally exhausted and did not believe in myself. And of course, my family and friends for your help and encouragement over the years as I have worked hard to achieve my goals. None of this would have been possible without your endless love and support.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study would not have been possible without the data collected from the children and families who participated in the longitudinal Schoo-be study. I am grateful to Dr. Virginia Delaney-Black for granting me access to such a rich data set, and to Dr. Lisa Chiodo for her meticulous eye and vast knowledge of the data contained therein. I would also like to recognize Dr. Christopher Trentacosta and my dissertation committee (including Carolyn Dayton and Paul Toro) for their copious amount of guidance and feedback as I have completed my degree.



PREFACE

This project explores the ever-evolving field of father involvement. The research in this area has taken root and is being explored from many perspectives. However, there is yet much to be explored and learned about this special population. This project aims to illuminate the ways in which early father involvement in the lives of urban African American youth plays a part in their longitudinal academic performance as they grow into young adults. In particular, this project explores fathers' engagement in school involvement, education encouragement, monitoring of children's activities, encouraging academic achievement, among others. These aspects of father involvement will be examined in relation to academic performance outcomes across the early decades of the lifespan, from elementary school into the college years. While this project cannot—and does not—aim to answer all questions about this subject, there are several interesting relationships that are discussed.



Dedication	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Preface	iv
List of Tables	viii
Chapter 1: Context of Urban African American Youth	1
Introduction	1
Correlates of Negative Youth Outcomes	3
Father Involvement	6
What is father involvement?	8
Urban African American Fathers	13
Father Involvement & Academic Attainment	15
<i>Gender as a potential moderator between father involvement and academic performance</i>	17
The Proposed Study: Aims & Hypotheses	19
Chapter 2: Method	21
Participants	21
Procedure	22
Measures of Father Involvement Collected During Childhood and Adolescence	24
Home Observation for Measurement of the Environment (HOME)	24
Other Father Involvement Items Collected in Childhood and Adolescence	25
Measures of Father Involvement Collected During Young Adulthood	25
Father Involvement Preliminary Checklist	25
School Help—Retrospective	26

TABLE OF CONTENTS



Father Involvement Scale (FIS)	27
Child & Adolescent Social Support Scale (CASSS)	27
Monitoring—Retrospective	28
Achievement Encouragement—Retrospective	28
Measures of Youth Academic Performance	28
Kaufman Test of Educational Achievement (KTEA)	28
Test of Early Reading Ability—2 (TERA-2)	29
Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT)	29
Other measures of academic performance	30
Covariates	30
Analysis Plan	30
Chapter 3: Results	
Aim 1: Descriptive Statistics of Father Involvement	32
Aim 2: Academic Performance Descriptive Statistics	36
Aim 2: Bivariate Correlations—Father Involvement with Academic Performance	37
Aim 2: Regression Analyses—Age 7 Variables (H2.1)	40
Aim 2: Regression Analyses—Age 14 Variables (H2.1)	41
Aim 3: Regression Analyses—Gender Differences (H3.1)	41
Chapter 4: Discussion	44
Appendix A: Data Analysis	54
Appendix B: Study Measures	94
References	101
Abstract	117



Autobiographical	Statement1	18
------------------	------------	----



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics for School Help Subscale	50
Table 2: School Help Subscale Factor Loadings	51
Table 3: Descriptive Statistics for Social Support Subscale	52
Table 4: Descriptive Statistics for Broad Involvement Subscale: "How involved was your father in the following aspects of your life from birth to age 18?"	53
Table 5: Descriptive Statistics for Monitoring Subscale	54
Table 6: Descriptive Statistics for Achievement Encouragement Subscale	55
Table 7: Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales	56
Table 8: Factor Analysis: Father Involvement Subscale Loadings	57
Table 9: School Achievement: Descriptive Statistics for KTEA, TERA-2, and GPA	58
Table 10: School Achievement: WIAT at Age 14	59
Table 11: Educational Attainment at Age 19	60
Table 12: Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales with Academic Performance	61
Table 13: Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales with Covariates	62
Table 14: Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales with Academic Performance Variables at Age 19	63
Table 15: Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales with FI Measures from Longitudinal Study	64
Table 16: Bivariate Correlations: FI Items from Longitudinal Study with Academic Performance	65
Table 17: Bivariate Correlations: FI Items from Longitudinal Study with College Attainment at Age 19.	66
Table 18: Fathers' School Help as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years	67
Table 19: Fathers' Achievement Encouragement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years	68



Table 20:	E Fathers' Social Support as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years	59
Table 21:	: Fathers' Monitoring as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years	70
Table 22:	: Fathers' Broad Involvement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years	71
Table 23:	: Total Father Involvement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years?	72
Table 24:	: "Child spends time with father" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years	73
Table 25:	: "Child eats at least one meal/day on most days with mother and father" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years	73
Table 26:	: "Child sees and spends some time with father 4 days/week" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years	75
Table 27:	: "How often does your child eat a meal at the table with both mother and father?" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years	76
Table 28:	: "How often does your child spend time playing or working with his father?" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years	77
Table 29:	: "Father regularly engages in outdoor recreation with child" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years	78
Table 30:	: "Child's father does outdoor activities" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years	79
Table 31:	: "Child spends time with father" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years	80
Table 32:	E Fathers' School Help as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years	81
Table 33:	: Fathers' Achievement Encouragement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years	82
Table 34:	: Fathers' Social Support as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years8	83
Table 35:	E Fathers' Monitoring as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years	84
Table 36:	: Fathers' Broad Involvement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years	85
Table 37:	: Total Father Involvement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years	86



Table 38: Predicting Academic Performance at Age 14 years from "Biological father lives with child?"	87
Table 39: Predicting Academic Performance at Age 14 years from"Child spends regular time with father?"	88
Table 40: Study Measures Separated by Data Collection Phase	89



CHAPTER 1: CONTEXT OF URBAN AFRICAN AMERICAN YOUTH Introduction

The purpose of this study is to shed light on the ways in which urban African American fathers are involved in the lives of their children throughout development, as well as to better understand the ways in which such involvement may impact youths' academic performance through the school years and into adulthood. In order to understand these patterns of child outcomes, it is first necessary to grasp the historical context of this population.

Urban African American youth are among the most disadvantaged and troubled demographic groups in the United States (Li, Nussbaum, and Richards, 2007). This pattern of disadvantage can be traced all the way back to slavery in this country and persists today through a myriad of compounding life circumstances. These circumstances include factors that prevent African Americans from living lives as fulfilled as others, including poverty, single mother headed households, crime involvement, racial discrimination, and lower levels of education and academic performance (Benhorin & McMahon, 2008).

More specifically, African Americans are disproportionately represented among the nation's poor, with 38.2% of African American children under the age of 18 living in poverty (McCartney, 2011). Contributing to the poverty rate is the high number of African American households headed by single mothers. In 2010, the median income for female-headed households in the African American community was just over \$25,000, compared to married African American couples whose median income was just over \$63,500. This represents a stark disparity for African American mothers raising children alone (McCartney, 2011). Not only have single parent households historically had fewer financial resources, children also tend to suffer from lack of monitoring and social support that can sometimes be afforded by an additional parent



(Blankenhorn, 1995). In addition to poverty, many African American communities also experience higher than average crime rates, and African American individuals are more than three times as likely to be searched, handcuffed, and arrested (U.S. Department of Justice, 2002) and are more likely to be incarcerated for drug and homicide related incidences (U.S. Department of Justice, 2009). Further, despite the election of the first African American president, many African Americans still perceive racial discrimination as a problem in the United States (Pew Foundation, 2013), which may contribute to psychological and health problems for this population (Mays, Cochran, and Barnes, 2007).

Adding to experiences of poverty, crime, and racial discrimination, many African Americans in urban centers continue to have difficulties with academic performance. Academic performance and achievement have continued to increase for African Americans since the 1940s—indeed, high school dropout rates have declined over the past several decades—yet, there is still a marked disparity between this group and other Americans as dropout rates continue to be higher for African Americans relative to all other racial groups (U.S. Department of Education, 2010). Areas of deficit include math, reading, and other core areas of education that persist well into the high school years (U.S. Department of Education, 2010). Further, the long-term consequences of negative environmental factors may be more impactful to the developmental trajectory of African American youth (e.g., academic performance, financial mobility, employment) compared to their White counterparts (Swisher et al., 2013). These effects may be mitigated by higher levels of parental monitoring (Poulin & Denault, 2012), social religiosity and perceived religious support (Mason et al., 2012), and higher levels of meaningful interactions with and closeness to biological fathers (Coley et al., 2007; National Fatherhood Initiative, 2004).



2

It is abundantly clear that many African Americans—especially those from impoverished urban environments-experience adverse life circumstances during their development that predict negative life outcomes such as poor academic performance. Poverty and single mother households, experiences of discrimination and exposure to crime all contribute to these negative life circumstances (Murry et al., 2001). The literature appears to point to the benefits of having two parents for preventing negative life outcomes; however, findings are not entirely clear on the relationship between father absence and child maladjustment. In fact, this association might be weaker than previously expected. Some studies have reported that father involvement in some cases appears to have little impact on child outcomes (Lamb, 2012). Poor child outcomes may be due to other adverse life circumstances present in the child's development. For example, the relationship status between the child and their parents, the relationship between the parents themselves, the amount and quality of father involvement, and the economic climate of the household in which the child resides may all lead to poor child outcomes (Fagan et al., 2009). Therefore, it is important to further explore how such factors as fathers' involvement during children's development might predict urban African American adolescents' and young adults' academic performance.

CORRELATES OF NEGATIVE YOUTH OUTCOMES

There appears to be a clear recognition that many African Americans in urban areas experience negative life circumstances; however, it is not always easy to understand the underlying mechanisms that drive these outcomes. There seems to be a pervasive stereotypical sentiment that many African Americans are lazy, jobless, drug addicted, uneducated, crime driven, incarcerated, and either cohabitating or living away from their children (Brown Givens & Monahan, 2005). This kind of perspective does not consider the system of historical and



persistent disadvantage that this group has faced—and continues to face—in this country. Indeed, it is not enough to say that African Americans are disadvantaged in a number of ways, but it is necessary to get a clearer picture of what particular circumstances are related to these disadvantages (Shapiro, 2004).

For many African Americans, poverty is the leading contributing factor to many of their poor life outcomes. Since the time of enslavement in this country, when many African Americans were barred from owning property, African Americans have faced difficulties stemming from lack of economic capital. Further, it would appear that the effects of poverty are durable and long-lasting, though academic attainment and performance can spur upward mobility for African Americans (Swisher et al., 2013). Single motherhood in the African American community is tied to higher rates of poverty, with African American women being least likely to marry of all racial and ethnic groups in the U.S. (McCartney, 2011). African American youth who reside in homes headed by single mothers (who generally have fewer resources in several domains) tend to live in neighborhoods with fewer resources, higher rates of poverty, and more community violence than their counterparts who come from intact homes and those from European American households (Anderson, 1999; Gonzalez et al., 2012; Hummer & Hamilton, 2010; US Census Bureau, 2008).

Since Lyndon Johnson's 1960s "War on Poverty" (Zarefsky, 2005), many African Americans have been caught up in the criminal justice system, with an inevitable impact on African American children. Many children who come from poverty-stricken areas are seen by the educational and juvenile justice systems as unruly and disruptive. As a result, there are a disproportionate number of poor African Americans represented in the penal system who are in many ways themselves victims of a system that has failed to take care of their most basic needs



(Alexander, 2010). Poor neighborhoods are often the most dangerous, which has been found to be associated with a wide variety of adjustment problems in adolescence, including antisocial behaviors and conduct problems (Schofield et al., 2012), as well as exposure to traumatic situations and subsequent symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (Gapen et al., 2011).

Of all the negative life outcomes for urban African American youth, lower levels of academic performance appear to be one of the most impactful across time. African American students historically have not fared as well in terms of reading, math, language and socioemotional development in their early years of education (Aratani, Wright, & Cooper, 2011). Children's academic performance has been linked to maternal education, which may go a long way to influence the cognitive abilities of children and may serve as a protective factor throughout development (Lowe et al., 2013; Perry and Fantuzzo, 2010; Schady, 2011). To add to this, research has continued to demonstrate that while many African Americans strive for educational attainment and better academic performance, rates of college completion by this group are among the lowest of all groups—this may be especially true for African American men (Palmer and Maramba, 2011).

This picture illustrates the multitude of factors that contribute to poor life outcomes for many urban, African American youth. Poverty contributes to children's lack of academic performance because of lack of access to quality schools, as well as having parents who themselves did not have an opportunity for academic upward mobility, thus perpetuating the trend. High rates of single mother households and lack of parental monitoring also contribute to the picture of poverty, crime, and the eventual incarceration of many African American youth. Even for those youth who do not end up in prison, the likelihood of adequate academic attainment and performance beyond high school is low due to adverse environmental factors



5

(Avalos, 2014; Ou and Reynolds, 2014). For those who reach postsecondary education, there are higher levels of perceived discrimination from their peers, which may contribute to a cycle of depression for these individuals (Brittian et al., 2015; Hwang and Goto, 2009). There is an emerging picture of the often-difficult developmental context for urban African American youth. In focusing on predictors of youth's academic performance in adolescence and young adulthood, father involvement—quantity, quality, depth, and type—has not been fully explored among urban, African American adolescents. The current study aims to shed some light on particular facets of father involvement engaged in by urban African American fathers and how this might influence children's academic performance across the lifespan.

FATHER INVOLVEMENT

The study of father involvement—especially as it relates to child development—has evolved over the past few decades. There are several theoretical roots of this field of study, including Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Theory of child development, the Integrated Ecological-Parental Capital Theory, and models put forth by Lamb and Pleck. Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Theory (1979, 1986) of child development states that children are embedded in ever increasing "levels" of environmental complexity. Their most proximal level is comprised of family members and intimate others, including mothers, fathers, and other primary caregivers from whom they learn to negotiate the world in a very basic way. These kinds of interactions may have a profound impact on child development. This is illustrated most explicitly in the home environment in which the reciprocal nature of parent-child interactions can serve to foster opportunities for enhanced academic achievement for children (Baker, 2014; Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 1986). As the levels extend out, there are the relationships that parents have with extended family members, teachers, and others from the community through whom children learn more



about the world. Extending all the way out, children are influenced by social structures and societal norms that govern people's existence.

Fathers are unique partners for children as they interact with the world, bringing their personality characteristics and styles of interaction that may differ from mothers (Parke et al., 2002; Pleck, 2007), through the influence of gender roles and the ways in which they view the world. The ecological theory of child development has historically been used to support the mechanisms of children's academic performance upon entrance into preschool in relation to the development of nascent academic skills like learning to read and do math. Ecological theory suggests that skills learned within the home—like conversations with parents and siblings and becoming proficient at chores—help to bolster these emerging skills. According to this theory, fathers' interaction with their children is dynamic and may be influenced by such factors as economic status, fathers' relationship with their children and their mother, and their own developmental maturity and the way that they see themselves in the fathering role (Palkovitz & Palm, 2009). It also appears that fathers must negotiate their roles with the mother of their children and those with whom she is connected (Fagan et al., 2009; Schacht, Cummings, & Davies, 2009). If a father cannot provide financially, he may offer his time and support instead (Cabrera, Fagan, and Farrie, 2008). If a marital relationship is not feasible or desired, non-marital options may be an alternative. In many African American families, the idea of "father" is a flexible concept. If biological fathers cannot take on the role, then there are sometimes other "social fathers" who take on some of these parenting responsibilities (Bzostek, 2008).

The Integrated Ecological-Parental Capital Theory (Pleck, 2007) states that the degree to which capital matters depends on the specific context and circumstances of each individual involved in the life and development of a child. Historically, early child development has



focused on mother-child dyad interactions, which have found positive relationships between academically oriented tasks in the home (like shared book reading) and early academic success in school (Blake et al., 2006; Bus, van IJzendoorn, and Pellegrini, 1995). More recent literature often takes into account the roles that fathers—including African American fathers—play in the home and in being involved in the lives of their children, including being involved in daily caregiving activities, play, and academic encouragement. Additionally, father involvement and its relation to early school achievement (Baker, 2014) may have a longitudinal impact on academic performance into adulthood.

Until around the 1970s, mothers were typically the main focus of any discussion of parenting and associations with child outcomes over time. Fathers, if included at all in theories and conceptual models of parenting, were placed in the light of the patriarchal breadwinner and disciplinarian, and not much else. Today, we know that fathers are spending more time with children than ever before (Lamb, 2010) and that there are myriad positive outcomes for children whose fathers are involved in positive and meaningful ways (Paquette et al., 2013).

What is father involvement? Depending on the theory, father involvement (FI) has been thought of in different ways across time (Greene et al, 2001; Lamb 1986; Lamb et al. 1987), but a common set of characteristics include being there for children, providing for physical and psychological needs, moral guidance, quantity and quality of time spent with children, shared activities, caregiving, and providing for the family (Flouri, 2012). Several theories have been formulated to help further characterize the nature of the evolution of father involvement across time, many of which are rooted in the model delineated by Lamb and Pleck in the 1980s (Lamb, Hwang, & Frodi, 1982; Lamb & Pleck, 1985). Their model of father involvement included three principle dimensions: Engagement (e.g., direct, one-on-one interactions with the child),



Accessibility (e.g., when a father is available for engagement but is not having direct contact), and Responsibility (e.g., taking responsibility for the child's overall well being) (Greene et al., 2001; Lamb, 1986; Lamb et al., 1987). Engagement can be thought of as activities such as time spent during mealtimes, giving the child a bath, or changing diapers. It might also include reading the child a bedtime story or going on walks and playing with the child. Accessibility includes such activities as talking on the phone while the child plays with toys nearby, preparing dinner while the child is engaged in some other activity, or running errands and bringing the child along. Responsibility includes activities such as getting a child ready and taking him to a doctor's appointment, making sure that the child is properly clothed and helping to provide for the child financially, as well as providing for emergency care arrangements. The aspect of engagement seems to be more about a father's direct interactions with the child, whereas responsibility appears to be a specific form of engagement that takes into account activities that lead to the overall safety and wellbeing of the child. Thus, there is much overlap between these two aspects of father involvement, and all three are tightly connected.

Several other prominent theories help characterize the role and the impact of fathers in the lives of their children (Pleck, 2007). Such theories have included Attachment Theory (Bowlby, 1969), rooted in evolutionary psychology and biology, that posits that children explore the world from a place of stability and security and slowly incorporate ideas about the people around them who can help them to safely explore their surroundings in a way that allows them to acquire new skills. In light of more recent evidence, this theory has been modified to accept fathers as unique contributors to feelings of attachment from children that are independent from mother-child attachment effects (Pleck, 2007). Alternatively, Social Capital Theory (Coleman, 1988) states that there are several domains of "capital" that children can take advantage of if they



are present (e.g., material, social, community, etc). Children with greater capital and resources tend to have better life outcomes (Pleck, 2007). Over the past couple of decades, there has been a shift in parenting roles for fathers, who are beginning to take on—and be seen as capable of taking on—caregiving roles traditionally thought to be filled solely by mothers (Finn & Henwood, 2009). Foundational studies have suggested that there are fundamental differences in how mothers and fathers engage their children in developmental education (Pleck, 2007). Mothering is sometimes characterized as repetitive and predictable, with mothers being generally more likely to interact with their children in ways that serve to engage their verbal abilities through teaching activities. Fathering, on the other hand, is sometimes defined as unpredictable, playful, and supportive of novelty-seeking behavior (Pruett, 2000; Paquette, Coyle-Shepherd, & Newland, 2013). Fathers are sometimes thought to be more likely to engage their children through physical play activities (Yogman et al., 1977; Paquette, Coyle-Shepherd, & Newland, 2013).

More recently, the Integrated Ecological-Parental Capital Theory (Pleck, 2010) of father involvement has emerged. It came as a response and reconceptualization of the work done in the field over the past two decades. It grew out of multiple interpretations of the original theory of father involvement put forth by Lamb and Pleck (1985). It includes aspects of father involvement such as positive engagement activities likely to promote development, including attending events and engaging in activities with the child as well as generally spending time with the child. It also includes aspects of expressed warmth (i.e., feeling closeness) and responsiveness (e.g., listening to what the child has to say and responding appropriately). Further, this theory integrates aspects of control, monitoring and decision making such as setting limits for the child and knowing what activities the child is involved in at any given time.



Indirect care activities, such as making sure that the general needs of the child are met, are also taken into account. Lastly, process responsibility—the direct and indirect engagement and caregiving by the father, such as selecting the child's pediatrician—have also been included in the updated framework of the father involvement concept. It is likely, that as time passes, more will be learned about the ways in which fathers interact with children and the theory will continue to change.

A father's involvement used to be measured in terms of absence or presence, but has become increasingly more multifaceted to capture the ideas contained in the theories outlined above as well as the changing nature of fatherhood. The father involvement construct eventually evolved to include paternal warmth, support, control/monitoring, cognition and affect, and economic support (Amato, 1999; Pleck and Stueve, 2001), as well as behaviors that capture aspects of Lamb and Pleck's model, such as singing songs, playing games, eating with the child, and doing other hands-on activities (Castillo & Sarver, 2012; Lamb et al., 1985). Additionally, early reports of father involvement came solely from mothers, with research predominantly presenting data on residential rather than nonresidential fathers, with nonresident fathers' "involvement" often defined as simply fulfilling financial obligations (Doherty et al., 1998). Now, however, more data is collected from fathers themselves. While research is needed that also accounts for mother involvement, findings over the past several years have helped to illuminate the unique contributions of fathers in the lives of their children, above and beyond other sociodemographic factors (Pleck, 2007) to include impacts on children's health, education, and social and emotional development (Baker, 2014).

Over and above mothers' activities and other factors, high father involvement has been associated with fewer externalizing behavior problems and higher levels of sociability for both



boys and girls (Flouri and Malmberg, 2012). For boys in particular, higher father involvement has been shown to be associated with fewer problem behaviors in school as well as higher levels of school performance for pre-adolescent boys (Feldman and Wentzel, 1990; Greene et al, 2001; Jai et al., 2012; Mosley & Thomson, 1995; Radin, 1986; Smith, 1989). Clarke-Stewart (1980) found that preschool-aged children who were cared for by fathers had higher scores on tests of cognitive ability, greater self-control, and were more in touch with the feelings of others as compared to their daycare counterparts. Indeed, recent work in the area illustrates that fathers' early involvement in children's academic lives by engaging them in academically-related encouraging activities, may have long term effects on their academic performance, even after taking into account other academically relevant factors like parental education and SES (Goldwire, 2012). Early involvement by fathers in the lives of their children has a profound impact on child development with regard to cognitive abilities and early academic success (Baker, 2014), and may also have long reaching impact across the lifespan in many domains yet to be fully explored.

Evidence suggests that fathers are more involved now than ever before, but there is still great discrepancy as to how much more and in what ways (Perry, Harmon, & Leeper, 2012). It is also unclear the extent to which other relatively unexplored areas and age periods—such as academic performance in adolescence and early adulthood—might be impacted by early father involvement as well as father involvement across the lifespan during development. It is also important to consider the uniqueness of urban African American fathers and their children. Both mothers and fathers contribute unique social, emotional, and economic capital to the child's development that have lasting and long reaching effects across time as children mature into



young adults and learn to negotiate the world for themselves as separate entities from their parents (Pleck, 2007).

Urban African American Fathers. While the general literature on fathers is growing, less is known about African American fathers from urban settings. Compared to other ethnic groups, African American fathers are largely absent from the early childhood literature and are generally only represented in small samples of low-income fathers (Baker, 2014). African American fathers have been negatively characterized for decades as "invisible, irresponsible dads who are marginalized in their families and contribute little economically to the well-being of their children" (Jarrett, Roy, and Burton, 2012, p. 211). What is clear is that the roles of fathers change throughout their lives and are affected by a myriad of individual circumstances. In the research on African American fathers, there are four emergent themes associated with aspects of father involvement. These include the economic context for fathers based on residential neighborhood and opportunities for employment; the relationships between fathers and mothers in an extended family social network; the personal interpretation of the fathering role and the subsequent process of father involvement; and the diversity of father figures who participate in children's lives and fulfill this particular parenting role (Jarrett, Roy, and Burton, 2012, p. 215).

Specific factors affecting the involvement of African American fathers in their children's lives have been suggested, including not living in the same residence as the child, the aging process of the child resulting in less involvement over time (Lamb, 2012), and the relationship of the father with the mother of his children and her family (Fagan et al, 2009; Fagan & Palkovitz, 2007; Schacht, Cummings, & Davies, 2009), among others. While father absence has been blamed for child maladjustment, it is important to note that children are without fathers for varying reasons, including incarceration (McLeod, 2016; Roettger & Swisher, 2011) and



mothers' choice (Makusha & Richter, 2016). Furthermore, child maladjustment may also result from fathers decreasing the amount of time spent with their children, with an inverse relationship seen between time spent with children and adverse effects experienced by these children (Flouri & Buchanan, 2003).

A review of the research shows that fathers tend to have the most beneficial impact on their children when they engage in positive relationships with them and when such interactions contain examples of "active parenting" (Lamb, 2012); when nonresident fathers are consistently involved in routine daily activities; when fathers are involved in their children's schooling (Leavell et al., 2011), and when post-divorce circumstances are focused on maximizing positive and meaningful interactions between the father and his children and not just meeting minimum time requirements (Fagan et al., 2009). Many African American fathers who do not reside with their children have few parental rights, and are consequently seen as visitors in their children's lives. Some forms of daily engagement with children might be viewed as trivial and inconsequential (such as arguments and general decision making); however, regular engagement is crucial to the development of meaningful relationships, and nonresidential fathers might miss out on key experiences with their children (Lamb, 2012).

Recently collected large-scale studies that include both residential and nonresidential fathers are quite diverse in their demographics, representing many types of fathers and varying degrees and breadth of involvement. Consequently, it is difficult to paint a very accurate picture of the "involved father" (Greif, 1997), and more difficult to accurately represent involved African American fathers. Additionally, there appears to be some level of discrepancy regarding the actual impact of father involvement during the early stages of development, with some studies suggesting that fathers' involvement in the lives of preschool-aged children influences



cognitive development (Bronte-Tinkew et al., 2008), while others have failed to reach similar conclusions (Black et al., 1999; Cabrera, Shannon, West, and Brooks-Gunn, 2006). Some of this may be accounted for based on the developmental period in children's lives in which studies were conducted, the particular operationalized constructs examined, home contextual factors, and the nature of the fathers represented, among others. Thus, it is necessary to take a closer look at different father figures present throughout a child's life. The structure of father involvement is evolving in the growing literature on fathering, and it still remains unclear as to how father involvement is associated with key child developmental outcomes, including academic performance in adolescence and young adulthood, especially among African American youth.

Father Involvement & Academic Attainment. African American young adults have a lower rate of college enrollment, and only 20% of African Americans age 25 or older have a bachelor's degree (Aud et al., 2010). However, a bachelor's degree confers the same benefits for African Americans as it does for members of other racial groups. For example, 96% of African Americans with a bachelor's degree or higher were employed in 2008 compared to 78% of those without a high school diploma (Aud et al., 2010). Given the benefits conferred by a college degree for African-American adults, it is important to examine predictors of college attendance. Furthermore, it may be especially important to examine college attendance during the developmental period immediately after high school because young adults who enter college soon after high school tend to experience higher rates of college completion than nontraditional students (Taniguchi & Kaufman, 2005). It is important to consider both family contextual factors—including family composition and father involvement—and youth attributes when aiming to improve rates of college enrollment among African-American youth. This relationship between father involvement and academic attainment is an aim of the present study.



Fathers are increasingly taking an active role in children's home and school lives. Father involvement has been found to be associated with children's decreased chances of academic failure, decreased risk of mental illness, and decreased likelihood of financial problems over time (Grantham & Henfield, 2011). Some fathers want to be viewed as more valued by educators and want to be included in the educational lives of their children. Being involved in the lives of children can be especially difficult if fathers do not live in the same home—let alone in the same city—as their children, even though they may still want a higher level of involvement than their proximity might allow (Grantham & Henfield, 2011).

Contrary to the belief that African American fathers are uninvolved in their children's education, research has shown that African American fathers who are involved in their children's academic lives "set high expectations, provide support for meeting expectations, and take an interest in their children's extracurricular activities" (Grief, Hrabowski & Maton, 1998; Perry, Harmon & Leeper, 2012, p. 699). They have also been shown to help with schoolwork (Perry et al., 2012) and other school related activities. Moreover, research confirms that African American fathers who provide significant involvement in their children's lives during development prior to school matriculation can have an enhanced effect on children's academic competence (Baker, 2014). Such research also supports the notion that fathers' involvement in academically relevant areas, such as home literacy, can have a significant positive effect on similar relevant academic areas in the school setting (Baker, 2014).

Most early studies of family influences on children's academic performance focused on mothers. While newer studies (e.g., Downer and Mendez, 2005) sometimes include fathers, more research is needed to determine the specific ways in which African American fathers interact with their children and to bolster existing knowledge of the way in which the home



environment positively impacts children's academic development (Baker, 2012, 2014). Sadly, positive images of African American fathers and their involvement in the academic arena are lacking (Ward, 2004). Some educators may believe that fathers do not want to be involved in the lives of their children, and fathers feel these sentiments. Additionally, some fathers might feel that the educational process is dominated by women, and despite a desire to help with children's education, they may feel out of place (Lamb, 2000). Furthermore, if educators do not perceive that parents in general—and fathers specifically—value their child's education, they may be less inclined to put as much effort into these students' education in comparison to those whom they perceive as having parents who are more invested in their education. This process may lead to children who cannot fully realize their academic potential (Grantham & Henfield, 2011).

Father involvement is still a burgeoning field of research, and even less is known about the characteristics of fathers of urban, African American youth. Considering the literature, it might be necessary to add even more facets to the definition of father involvement and to further examine its relationship to important child developmental outcomes. For example, to what extent are fathers involved in the intellectual, social, emotional, and moral development of their children? How much time and effort do fathers expend on monitoring their children's activities and their whereabouts as they are growing? How involved are fathers in children's school activities and encouraging their overall academic achievement? Are there differences in fathers' parenting approach based on the gender of the child? These will be very important questions to answer moving forward, which the current project attempts to shed some light on.

Gender as a potential moderator between father involvement and academic performance. Initial research suggested that fathers behave differently toward their male children than their female children. These differences were more apparent in the way that a



father played with his children than in the way that he engaged in caregiving roles with them (Clarke-Stewart, 1978; Greene et al., 2001; Nugent, 1987; Wachs, Uzgiris, and Hunt, 1971; Yarrow et al., 1984). For example, fathers are sometimes thought to engage in more "rough-andtumble" play with their male children, while engaging in activities that promote verbal skills in their female children; overall, they engage more with male children. However, more recent research in this area leads to mixed results. In one study, residential fathers of very young children did not interact differently with their male and female children in instrumental and enrichment/play activities (Meece, 2013). Conversely, another study found that there were gender differences in father involvement based on marital status, with the presence of male children leading to more involvement for married fathers (Lundberg, McLanahan, & Rose, 2007). Indeed, more recent research would suggest that fathers are more involved with their female children in academic pursuits compared to male children. In other populations-such as fathers in Shanghai, China-fathers appear to be highly invested in their daughters, especially where their education is concerned (Xu & Yeung, 2013). In general, it would appear that girls receive more educational encouragement from their fathers than do their male counterparts (Khan, 2012). It is possible that as the conceptualization of father involvement has changed over time, so too have nuances emerged that perhaps were not as apparent as before. It may also be the case that our changing ideas about the roles of fathers have allowed fathers to be more readily involved in areas in which they were not present before. Further, it is likely that cultural differences may be at play in the literature to account for some of these discrepancies in outcomes.

There is some empirical evidence to suggest that gender may play a role in the degree to which fathers are involved in their children's academic performance. However, research has not



yet evaluated whether father involvement is more robustly associated with academic outcomes, depending on the youth's gender. Research is especially needed to elucidate this important area of academic and social development in high-risk, urban African American populations. The current project aims to add to the literature and clarify the relationship between father involvement practices of urban African American fathers and the longitudinal academic performance of their children while also examining the moderating effect of gender on this relationship.

THE PROPOSED STUDY: AIMS & HYPOTHESES

The objective of this study was to determine the quality, quantity, types, and depth of father involvement in a sample of high-risk, urban African American fathers and their children from a longitudinal perspective. In particular, this study examined relationships between different aspects of father involvement and later academic performance in childhood, adolescence and early adulthood as primary outcomes. It also explored gender as a moderator of these relationships. Current literature indicates that fathers interact with and are involved in the lives of their children in many ways and to a greater extent than once thought. Specific aims and hypotheses for the present study are as follows:

- Aim 1: Examine different aspects of father involvement including behaviors associated with intellectual (academic, school, achievement) and moral development, social and emotional support, and monitoring.
 - Hypothesis 1.1: It is expected that fathers will be involved in the lives of their children in myriad ways and to differing degrees.



- Hypothesis 1.2: It is hypothesized that separate father involvement measures will be robustly related to each other and be best represented by a single overarching father involvement factor.
- Aim 2: Examine the extent to which father involvement across childhood and adolescence influenced youth' academic performance across time.
 - Hypothesis 2.1: Greater reported father involvement will yield better academic performance on school achievement measures.
 - Hypothesis 2.2: Relationships between father involvement and academic performance will persist after accounting for key covariates (e.g., SES, maternal/paternal age & education, child mental ability, and single parenthood).

The literature has not been entirely clear regarding the role that child gender plays in the relationship between reported levels of fathering behaviors and subsequent academic performance for children. To this end, an exploratory analysis was conducted as little literature exists on gender as a moderator of associations between father involvement and youth outcomes.

- *Exploratory* Aim 3: Determine the role that gender plays in the impact of father involvement on academic performance.
 - Hypothesis 3.1: There may be a differential effect of fathers' youth-reported involvement on their children's academic performance based on child gender.
 - Hypothesis 3.2: Relationships between father involvement and academic performance as separated by participant gender will persist after accounting for key covariates (e.g., SES, maternal/paternal age & education, child mental ability, and single parenthood).



CHAPTER 2: METHOD

Participants

Participants were originally identified from 1989 to 1991 as a part of a larger prospective study of pregnant women receiving prenatal care at a large hospital in an urban metropolitan area in the Midwestern United States (Delaney-Black et al., 2010; Greenwald et al., 2011). This group of participants was representative of the population from which it was drawn in terms of racial/ethnic background, poverty and SES, incarceration, and alcohol and drug use/abuse. Over 96% of the original samples were African American women who received prenatal care at the hospital. There were several exclusionary criteria used for selection in the original longitudinal study: multiple gestation, children born to women known to be HIV positive, and children known to have numerous congenital malformations. Subsequent births to the same participating mothers were also excluded from the original study. Additionally, as there was an increase in cocaine use in the Metropolitan Detroit area in the late 1980's, mothers using cocaine during pregnancy were over sampled. The original sample also included a random sample of mothers who reported no alcohol and drug use during pregnancy. The original sample consisted of 656) mothers and children. Among the 656, 556 (85%) were located and completed testing at age 7. Of the 556, 432 (78%) were assessed at age 14 and 405 (73%) were assessed at age 19. Of the participants' data used specifically for this dissertation project (N = 450)—those who had data available across the age 7, 14, and 19 year collection phases and who also provided data for the young adult dissertation assessment— there was a near equal sex division (males = 224, females = 226). Participants were administered a comprehensive set of assessments for each of the age 7, 14 and 19-year data collection waves in an outpatient clinic setting.



Procedure

Evidence of father involvement was collected by surveying the young adult offspring of the mothers from the original study, at approximately age 21 years. The young adult participants either completed a brief (e.g., 15-30 minute) telephone interview in which surveys were read to them, or research assistants collected the data in person at the family's home or at the research laboratory. Participants were guided through a structured informed consent process as approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Wayne State University and were paid a modest compensation for their time.

In order to reduce attrition and keep track of participants over time for follow-up waves of data collection during the original data collection process at ages 7, 14, and 19 years, various compensation methods were employed. Every year, participants were sent a contact card in the mail to update their home address and phone number, which was stored in an aggregate, electronic participant database. In return, they were given a \$5 gift card to Target. Typically, the first 100 respondents to return data within the first two weeks of data collection were also entered into a raffle for other small compensatory prizes. Participants were also sent \$5 Target gift cards during their birthdays each year, and their parents were also sent gift cards during holidays, Mother's Day and Father's Day, where applicable. When participants visited the study laboratory to provide large amounts of data during one of the main collection phases (i.e. at 7, 14, and 19 years), their parents were provided \$80 as compensation for a typical 8-hour day, and the child/teen was given a small gift (or monetary compensation once they became adults and came to data collection by themselves). Study investigators also contacted participants to express sentiment following other major life events, such as the death of a parent or the death of



a study participant. Updated contact information was collected and entered into the participanttracking database.

Most of the data collected during the current data collection phase was young adult participants' retrospective accounts of their fathers' involvement in their lives. This route was recommended, as many biological fathers were not living with their children while growing up. For example, during the age 14 data collection wave, 53.9% of participants' fathers were or had been previously incarcerated. By asking participants directly about their fathers, the presence of a biological father or father figure present in the home while the child was growing up could be more accurately captured. Moreover, information on their perception of paternal involvement and his impact on their lives could be gathered.

Many of the measures assessing father involvement were collected as a part of the current study's additional data collection phase during young adulthood (N = 93 for this data collection, approx. 21 years). Study administrators were trained on the dissemination of study measures for the current project, both over the phone and during in-person visits, to ensure standardization in administration. The lead administrator of this project reviewed administrative procedures for questionnaires individually with study personnel, who each had multiple years of experience in working with participants from this particular cohort and on other research projects. Fidelity checks were conducted throughout the duration of the project to ensure procedural consistency. During in-person data collection, questionnaires were either read to participants or completed by participants with administrator assistance. Steps were taken to ensure that participants adequately understood questions being asked of them by reading questions multiple times, reiterating the rating and answer structure periodically during administration, and having participants explain answers to corroborate understanding. For data collected over the phone,



care was taken not only to ensure that participants understood the content of questions, but that they also understood the rating scale (e.g., Likert scale 1-5 or 1-6) for each questionnaire being administered. There were other measures of father involvement, including the *HOME* and other demographic variables that were collected as a part of the original larger longitudinal study. Academic performance outcome data, as well as associated covariates, were also collected at previous waves of the larger study. As a reference, tables in Appendix A show all of the constructs represented in this study, including which phase of the larger project data were collected and the years in which they were collected.

Measures of Father Involvement Collected During Childhood and Adolescence

Home Observation for Measurement of the Environment (HOME). The HOME was designed as a tool for the quantitative and qualitative measurement of child stimulation and social support in the home environment. The child is the focus of the observation, with stimulation inputs coming from objects, events, and interactions with individuals in the home context. Numerous domains of functioning are assessed in the HOME, some of which include Responsivity, Acceptance, Organization, Learning Materials, Involvement Variety, Language Stimulation, Responsivity, Modeling, Encouragement of Maturity, Academic Stimulation, and Paternal Involvement (Caldwell and Bradley, 2013). During the age 7 and age 14 data collection phases, caregivers (typically biological mothers) were asked about their child's father's involvement in the home and with the child. For example, "Does the child's father do outdoor activities with the child regularly? If yes, how often?" "Does your child eat at least one meal a day, on most days, with mother and father?" Observers in the home rated each statement with a PLUS (+) or a MINUS (-) sign in the box next to each item indicating whether or not behaviors were observed


in the home environment or if the caregiver reported that the conditions or events were typically characteristic of the home environment. Items collected during the age 7 and 14 data collection phases were essentially the same except for the time period in which they were collected.

Other Father Involvement Items Collected in Childhood and Adolescence. Various items relating to father involvement were collected from mothers on self-report questionnaires during the age 7, 14, and 19 waves of the larger longitudinal study. Examples of father-related items from the age 7 data collection come from the HOME assessment and include "child spends time with father," "child eats at least one meal/day on most days with mother and father," etc. At the age 14 assessment, the following examples of father lives with child," and "child spends regular time with father". At the age 19 assessment, items pertaining to father involvement were also collected from demographic interview questionnaires and include "spends regular time with father."

Measures of Father Involvement Collected During Young Adulthood

Father Involvement Preliminary Checklist. This demographic questionnaire was created to determine the nature of the relationship between each study participant and their father. The questionnaire determines the "type" of father in question (e.g., biological father, step-father, no father, etc.). If a biological father was present in the participant's life at any point, he was used as the father of interest during that time period, even if the participant considered his level of involvement low. As most participants had one primary father figure (though some had more than one throughout their lives growing up), participants were asked to focus on the biological father if he was present; if there was no biological father present, focus shifted to an available primary father figure. If a participant reported no relationship with their father while growing up,



additional information was ascertained as to why this was the case. For example, if a participant endorsed only minimal contact with their father while growing up, follow-up information might reveal that his absence was due to incarceration.

School Help—Retrospective. The School Help questionnaire is a measure of school involvement and attachment that is comprised of three smaller measures: 1) School Attachment Scale: This instrument was developed to assess student connectedness to school (Somers & Gizzi, 2001). Items are answered on a 5-point scale, and a total score is obtained by summing all items. In a study of more than 500 students, internal consistency was estimated at .88 (Somers & Gizzi, 2001). 2) Sense of School Membership: This measure assesses a student's sense of belonging to his or her school (Goodenow, 1993). The scale has an estimated internal consistency ranging from .77 to .88 across different samples (Goodenow, 1993). 3) School Involvement Scale: This instrument evaluates students' perceived levels of involvement in school activities (Somers & Gizzi, 2001). Items are answered on a 5-point scale, and a total score is computed. Internal consistency was estimated at .72 in a prior study (Somers & Gizzi, 2001).

A retrospective version of the School Help measure was used, as adapted from the Age 14 and 19 data collection phases of the larger project. This measure asked participants to focus on their "father figure" as he was in their life at or before the age of 18 years. This questionnaire asked about the extent to which fathers were involved in activities pertaining to school, extracurricular activities, and homework. Participants were asked to respond to statements on a 5-point Likert scale from 1 = Strongly Disagree to 5 = Strongly Agree. For example, "*My father did volunteer work at school.*" This adapted questionnaire contained a total of 9 statements. Internal consistency for this scale is .82.



Father Involvement Scale (FIS). The *Father Involvement Scale (FIS)* used for this study was adapted from Finley & Schwartz (2004; Hawkins & Palkovitz, 1999). It is a dual-part questionnaire that asks participants to 1) Rate how involved their fathers were in their lives in 20 diverse areas before the age of 18 years. Ratings were made on a scale from 1 = Never involved to 5 = Always involved; and 2) Rate what participants would have liked for the *desired* level of their father's involvement in the aforementioned domains on a scale from 1 = Much less involved to 5 = Much more involved. Examples of rated domains of father involvement are *Intellectual development, Showing affection,* and *Modeling social interactions.* For the purposes of the most recent young adult data collection, the time period focused on was from birth to age 18. This scale has been used with diverse populations with good reliability and validity (Finley & Schwartz, 2004). Internal consistency for this scale in the present study ("Broad Involvement") is .98.

Child & Adolescent Social Support Scale (CASSS)—Retrospective. The Child and Adolescent Social Support Scale (CASSS) for fathers, was modeled after the CASSS2000 Extended Family (Malecki et al., 2000) version of the measure, which contains 72 items assessing parent, extended family, teacher, classmate, close friend, and community social support. Studies report that the CASSS has good reliability and validity (Malecki & Demaray, 2002; 2003) and has been used with diverse populations. The versions used in this study (e.g., CASSS—Retrospective) took a subset of 12 items from the CASSS2000 Extended Family and asked participants about their father's involvement in their lives from a social support perspective before the age of 18. The questionnaire asked participants to state their level of agreement with statements pertaining to their fathers' involvement in their lives in a variety of



domains on a scale from 1 = Never to 6 = Always. For example, "*My father...showed that he was proud of me*." Internal consistency for this scale in the present study is .97.

Monitoring—Retrospective. The *Monitoring* measure (Hetherington et al., 1992) is a 9item scale that assesses the extent to which parents supervise their children. Internal consistency estimates have ranged from .77 to .87 (Formosa et al., 2000). Monitoring questions in the modified version for this project asked participants to reflect on the extent to which they believed their father knew about the events taking place in their lives on a regular basis before the age of 18. For example, "*Did your father know what you spent your money on*?" Participants rated the degree to which they agreed or disagreed with each statement on a scale where 1 = Strongly*Disagree* to 5 = Strongly Agree. Internal consistency for this scale in the present study is .96.

Achievement Encouragement—Retrospective. The Achievement Encouragement measure is a modified version of a 7-item measure (Somers & Gizzi, 2001) of parents' view of their child's academic success. Internal consistency estimates for this measure in prior studies range from .72 to .88. Achievement encouragement questions in the modified version focused on the degree to which participants believed that their father had a desire for them to be high achievers in school and to do great things with their lives. For example, "Your father thought you should go to college." For this set of statements, participants were asked to determine to what extent they agreed or disagreed with each statement and rated them on a scale where 1 = Strongly Disagree to 5 = Strongly Agree.

Measures of Youth Academic Performance

Kaufman Test of Educational Achievement (KTEA). The KTEA is an individually administered battery of tests that provides an in-depth assessment of key academic skills. It assesses skills in the areas of reading, math, written language, and oral language using 14



subtests across subject areas. It was designed for individuals aged 4 to 25 years with norms for grades K-12. Overall reliability measures as obtained from a normative sample ranged from the .80s to the .90s. This measure has also been found to have good validity and has been administered to diverse student populations (Scheiber, 2015). This assessment was administered during the age 7 data collection phase of the larger longitudinal study.

Test of Early Reading Ability—2 *(TERA*—2). The TERA—2 is an individually administered test of a child's ability to draw meaning from printed material, to understand the alphabet and how it works, and to understand the ways in which printed words are used. The TERA—2 contains 46 items which are used to assess the reading abilities of children from ages 3 to 9 years. There are 3 clusters of items that fall into the categories of Meaning, Alphabet, and Conventions. Norms are based on a nationally representative sample. Both internal consistency of clusters of items, as well as test-retest reliability, are acceptably high (Reid & Hammill, 2013). This assessment was administered during the age 7 data collection phase of the larger longitudinal study.

Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT). The WIAT, a widely used test of academic performance, was designed to assess the achievement of students in grades PreK-12 with subtests assessing specific academic skills such as reading comprehension, spelling, math reasoning, numerical operations, listening comprehension, oral and written expression. This test was originally designed to help identify individuals thought to have learning disabilities. Internal consistency measures estimate composite scores and subtests for the norm group at or above .82-.97 with consistent validity scores (Vaughan-Jensen et al., 2011). The WIAT was administered during the age 14 phase of the larger longitudinal study.



Other measures of academic performance. Grade Point Average (GPA), a general measure of school performance and academic achievement, was collected during the age 14 data collection phase. Academic performance was also assessed using standardized achievement test scores collected from students with school-based assessments during the age 14 data collection phase. Additionally, subsequent academic performance (e.g., college enrollment) was assessed using participant self-report on a demographic interview collected during the age 19 collection wave.

Covariates

All analyses, where applicable, controlled for variables that have been shown by the literature to be predictors of negative child outcomes, including lower academic performance (Baker, 2014). Such variables include socioeconomic status (SES; based on Hollingshead Four Factor Index, 1975), parental age and education at the child's birth, maternal custody and marital status, and maternal and child mental ability. All of these variables were assessed in the larger longitudinal study. Child mental ability was assessed using the Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence—Revised (WPPSI-R) at the age 7 data collection phase (Wechsler, 1989). Maternal mental ability was also measured at the age 7 data collection wave using the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale—Revised (WAIS-R; Wechsler, 1981). In data analyses, aggregate HOME scores representing each phase of the data collection (i.e., age 7 and 14) served as covariates in multiple regression analyses.

Analysis Plan

Means, standard deviations, and ranges for all variables were inspected for normality. General descriptive statistics were examined for father involvement and academic performance variables. For the father involvement variables (i.e., School Help, Social Support, Monitoring,



Achievement Encouragement, and Broad Involvement), a factor analysis was performed to determine the emergent constructs. Each father involvement construct was made into single variables representing a crystallized representation of each particular aspect of father involvement (e.g., school help, social support, monitoring). Next, bivariate correlations between variables were examined. All other hypotheses were tested using hierarchical multiple regression or logistic regression analyses, controlling for sociodemographic variables that are known to be related to variables of interest, such as parental education and intellectual ability, child intellectual ability, parental age, marital and custody status, SES, and home contextual factors (Melis, Elliot, & Shryane, 2014). Covariates and all hypothesized father involvement predictors of academic performance (the chief outcome of interest) were entered simultaneously into separate regressions for each measure of academic performance. Finally, participant gender was explored as a moderating variable between father involvement and academic performance.



CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Prior to running data analyses, a power analysis was conducted to determine the proper sample size required to detect a moderate effect with adequate power. It was determined that the current project contained a sample of adequate size. Additionally, independent samples t-tests were conducted to determine if there were significant mean differences between the smaller subsample of participants providing responses for the young adult data collection phase and the subsample of participants from the larger longitudinal study who did not participate in the young adult data collection phase. This set of analyses was conducted for both mean differences in the academic performance outcome variables of interest as well as covariates. There were no significant mean differences found between the two subsamples.

Aim 1: Descriptive Statistics of Father Involvement

The focus of Aim 1 was to investigate the nature of father involvement in the sample, including the different kinds of involvement engaged in, and the frequency and quantity of involvement. To this end, an investigation was conducted to determine which kinds of father involvement were represented in the sample and whether or not father involvement could be captured by the measures that were used (H1.1). Furthermore, if fathers were involved, the extent of their involvement would be described and quantified, where applicable. Tables 1-6 present means, standard deviations, and factor loadings for the respective items for the subset of participants who provided father involvement data. Of the participants whose data were obtained for the most recent young adult data collection, many (n = 75) gave information about the nature of their relationship with their father, both at the time of data collection and in the past. Most participants reported having a biological father or other father figure of some sort in their lives, both at the time data was collected for the most recent young adult data collection (88%) as well



32

as in the past (96%). Over half of participants (59%) reported that they have always been in contact to some degree (e.g., occasional visits, phone calls, birthday/holiday cards and gifts, child support, etc.) with their biological fathers throughout their lives. Of the fathers reported on, the majority were biological fathers (current = 62%; past = 76%); however, some participants reported on father figures (i.e., not biological fathers) (current = 26%; past = 20%).

Participants reported that fathers were not involved in their lives while growing up for various reasons including being deceased, incarcerated, or simply not being around for unknown reasons. While it is not possible to make a generalized statement about the entire sample, independent samples t-tests did not show statistically significant mean-level differences between respondents from the young adult data collection phase and other participants from the larger longitudinal sample in terms of their contact with biological fathers or other father figures.

Next, the "School Help" subscale was created by first reverse-scoring three of the original 9 items (i.e., items 2, 3, and 6; See Appendix B) from this measure. Taken together, all of the items had strong internal reliability ($\alpha = .82$, Table 1). Then, an exploratory factor analysis with varimax rotation and alpha extraction was performed on the items to reveal the underlying factor structure. Three separate factors emerged (Table 2). Each factor had high internal reliability, but there was no clear distinction in content for items loading on each factor. Given the high internal reliability of the full set of nine items and the lack of distinction in content across the separate factors all items were retained as a single scale.

Table 3 presents the items representing the "Social Support" father involvement subscale that was created from the CASSSR measure. An exploratory factor analysis with varimax rotation and alpha extraction was performed on the items to reveal the underlying factor structure. A single factor emerged and all 12 items from the measure were retained as they had



good inter-item correlation and internal consistency ($\alpha = .97$) with strong factor loadings (range .79-.90).

In Table 4 are the descriptives for the "Broad Involvement" father involvement subscale created from the Father Involvement Scale. As before, an exploratory factor analysis with varimax rotation and alpha extraction was performed on the items to reveal the underlying factor structure. A single factor emerged and all 20 items were retained for further analysis. The factor structure had strong internal consistency ($\alpha = .98$) and good factor loadings (range .63-.91).

Tables 5 and 6 represent the "Monitoring" and "Achievement Encouragement" father involvement subscales (adapted from the Monitoring and Achievement measures from the longitudinal study, respectively). The Monitoring subscale was created from 8 of the original 9 items after performing an exploratory factor analysis with varimax rotation and alpha extraction to examine the overall factor structure for the measure. These 8 items were retained as their content fit well with the theoretical content of the construct and had strong internal consistency ($\alpha = .96$) and factor loadings (range .80-.91). One item was removed, as it had a poor factor loading. Likewise, a confirmatory factor analysis with varimax rotation and alpha extraction was performed on the 7 items comprising the Achievement Encouragement subscale. All items were retained for the resulting construct. Factor loadings (range .80-.92) and internal consistency ($\alpha =$.96) were strong and items mapped well to the expected content of the scale.

Total sum scores were created for each subscale such that participants had to answer at least approximately 60% of the items on a given subscale in order for their data to be included in the subscale total sum score for data analysis. For example, the School Help subscale contains 9 total items. In creating the sum score for this subscale, participants had to answer at least 6 of 9 (>60%) of the items in order for their responses to be included in the sum score of the subscale.



The responses from the resultant items were added together to get this "sum score" representing their total score for that subscale. The bivariate correlations between each pair of father involvement subscales were quite high (H1.2) and ranged from r = .65 to .87 (see Table 7). The vast majority of respondents gave enough data for their scores to be included in the sum score creation.

Next, all father involvement subscales were included in a factor analysis to determine the factor structure of the overarching father involvement construct. All subscales were found to load adequately onto a single father involvement construct (H1.2) with sufficient strength (factor loadings range from .75-.93) and excellent internal consistency ($\alpha = .93$; Table 8). Subscale total sum scores were standardized (i.e., z-scores were created) and they were combined into a single crystallized measure of father involvement—termed "Total FI." In analyses, father involvement subscale sum scores and the Total FI construct were each examined as predictors of academic performance.

Next, the extent to which fathers were reportedly involved in their children's lives was examined (H1.1). All items were rated on a 1-5 or 1-6 Likert scale, with low numbers representing less involvement and higher numbers representing more involvement (i.e., Likert 1-5 range: Low = 0-1, Mid = 2-3, High = 4-5; Likert 1-6 range: Low = 0-2, Mid = 3-4, High = 5-6). As can be seen from the mean scores for items on each subscale (Tables 1, 3-6), participants rated their fathers' level of involvement in the moderate to high range, though there was variability in responses. Approximately 78% of mean scores on the School Help subscale were in the moderate range (i.e., 7 of 9 of the items had mean scores at ratings between 2-3, inclusive); 100% of mean scores on the Social Support, Broad Involvement, and Monitoring subscales were



in the moderate range; and 86% of mean scores on the Achievement Encouragement subscale were in the high range.

Aim 2: Academic Performance Descriptive Statistics

For Aim 2, the extent to which youth's report of their father's influence on their academic performance (up to high school) and college academic performance post-graduation was examined.

Tables 9 and 10 present descriptive statistics, including means, standard deviations, range and factor loadings (where available) for individual items onto their respective Academic Performance subscale (e.g., Kaufman Test of Educational Achievement (KTEA), Test of Early Reading Ability-2nd Edition (TERA-2), Grade Point Average (GPA), and the Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT)). The KTEA, administered during the age 7 phase of the project, showed performance in the mid-range (Table 9). The TERA-2 achievement test, on the other hand, showed average performance for this sample below the 50th percentile of scores (Table 9). During the age 7 collection phase of the project, most students' grades were in the C+ average range (GPA = 2.45), but showed some decline during the age 14 data collection phase where average grades were below a C (GPA = 1.97). Individual subscales for the WIAT (administered during the Age 14 assessment) had good internal consistency (Table 10; $\alpha = .96$) and there was variability in scores represented. When examined together, all WIAT subscales were highly correlated. As a result, only the Overall Reading, Overall Written Expression, and Overall Math standard scores were used in analyses. Additionally, a composite standardized variable (i.e., z-score) representing general WIAT performance was used in analyses. WIAT standard scores on a given subscale ranged from 0-136. Mean scores ranged from 74.64 (SD =14.96, Borderline) to 86.64 (*SD* = 16.62, Low Average).



Educational attainment (i.e., questions about post-secondary matriculation) was examined at age 19 (Table 11, college enrollment data), and youth were asked questions (i.e., "yes or no") about whether or not they had achieved certain educational milestones. There was a wide range of responses when students were asked about their highest level of education completed. Approximately 18.2% (N = 72) of youth completed the 11th grade; 41.3% (N = 163) completed the 12th grade (but 66% (N = 260) and said they received a HS diploma) with 5.8% (N = 23) earning a GED; 10% (N = 45) had one year of college; and 10.2% (N = 46) had two years of college. Some students (4.1%, N = 16) had some kind of trade/skill certification or another type of degree.

Academic performance status was also collected from a subsample during the current young adult data collection. Unfortunately, too few data points were collected to draw meaningful conclusions regarding participants' current level of academic performance and degree completion as this question was added after data collection had already begun.

Aim 2: Bivariate Correlations—Father Involvement with Academic Performance

Next, the extent to which father involvement was related to school achievement and later academic performance was examined. First, bivariate correlations between each father involvement construct and each academic performance variable (e.g., KTEA, TERA-2, GPA, and WIAT) were examined (Table 12) to understand how these constructs might be related. With few exceptions, correlations between these two groups of variables were very weak with *r*-values ranging from -.08 to .28. Of these correlations, there were only three statistically significant associations, the relationship between the GPA in adolescence and the Broad Involvement (r = .28, p < .01), Social Support (r = .23, p < .05), and Total FI (r = .23, p < .05) subscales.



Then, bivariate correlations between each father involvement construct and each key covariate used in analyses (e.g., mother IQ, age, and education; father age and education; child IQ; HOME score; caregiver's marital status; mother's custody status; and SES) were examined (Table 13). Again, correlations between these pairs of variables were rather weak, ranging from r = -.14 to .28. Of these correlations, there were few statistically significant correlations. Mother IQ was significantly correlated with School Help father involvement (r = .23, p < .05). Child IQ at age 14 was significantly correlated with the School Help (r = .21, p < .05), Achievement Encouragement (r = .22, p < .05), and Total Father Involvement (r = .21, p < .05) subscales. The HOME Score at age 7 was significantly correlated with Achievement Encouragement Father Involvement (r = .22, p < .05). Caregiver Marital Status (0 = unmarried, 1 = married) at age 14 was significantly correlated with all forms of Father Involvement except Achievement Encouragement. Lastly, Custody Status (0 = other caregiver, 1 = mother) was correlated with each subtype of Father Involvement except for School Help and Achievement Encouragement.

Next, bivariate correlations were examined between the father involvement subscales and the post-secondary academic performance variables at the age 19 data collection phase (Table 14). None of these correlations were statistically significant. Bivariate correlations were also examined between the father involvement subscales from the young adult data collection and father involvement variables collected during the earlier waves of the larger longitudinal study (Table 15). Values ranged from r = -.31 to .39. Significant relationships were found between "*Child spends time with father*" (age 7) and all Father Involvement subscales except for Achievement Encouragement, with *r*-values ranging from .24-.33. Likewise, the age 14 variable, "*Child spends regular time with father*" was significantly correlated with all Father Involvement



subscales, with *r*-values ranging from .21-.38. "*Father figure regularly engages in outdoor recreation with child*" (age 7) was significantly inversely related to the Social Support Father Involvement subscale (r = -.26, p < .05). Similarly, "*Child's father does outdoor activities*" (age 7) was correlated with all subscales of Father Involvement except Social Support. "*Biofather lives with child*"(age 14) was correlated with all subscales of Father Involvement except School Help. Lastly, the variable "*Spends regular time with father*" (age 19) was significantly correlated with all of the Father Involvement subscales except for School Help.

Next, the father involvement variables from the child and adolescent waves of data collection from the larger longitudinal study were examined in relation to the academic performance variables (Table 16). Correlation values ranged from -.20 to .20. Only "*How often does your child eat a meal at the table with both mother and father*?" (age 7) was correlated with the KTEA at age 7 (r = .20, p < .05).

These father involvement variables from the longitudinal study were also examined in relation to the academic performance variables at age 19 (Table 17). Correlation values ranged from -.45 to .35. Significant inverse relationships were found to exist between the variable "*Child eats at least one meal per day on most days with mother and father*" (age 7) and the academic performance variable (age 19) "*Currently in school*?" (r = .12, p < .05) and "*Received GED*?" (r = .13, p < .05). Additionally, the variable "*Child sees and spends some time with father four days a week*" (age 7) was significantly inversely related to a participant reporting having earned "other type of degree/certificate" (r = .11, p < .05). The variable "*Father Figure regularly engages in outdoor recreation with child*" (age 7) was inversely correlated with "*Currently in school*?", "*Highest grade completed*," and a participant reporting having earned "other type of degree/certificate." "*Child's father do outdoor activities*" (age 7) was inversely



related to "*Received GED*?" (r = -.10, p < .05). Lastly, the longitudinal study father involvement variable "*Child spends regular time with father*" (age 14) was related to both "*Highest grade completed*" (r = .13, p < .05) and "*Received HS diploma*?" (r = .11, p < .05).

Aim 2: Regression Analyses—Age 7 Variables (H2.1)

Given few significant correlations between major father involvement constructs and related academic achievement outcomes and key covariates, significant findings were not expected when predicting academic achievement outcomes from the same father involvement constructs in multiple regressions. In separate hierarchical linear multiple regressions, each school-related academic achievement outcome was regressed on each type of identified father involvement while accounting for key covariates (H2.2). Where applicable, a filter was created that selected for cases in which father involvement variables were present (N = 93) from the young adult data collection phase. Three age 7 academic performance outcomes were examined: the Kaufman Test of Education Achievement (KTEA), the Test of Early Reading Ability—2nd Edition (TERA-2), and Grade Point Average (GPA). Results from regression analyses of these academic performance outcomes (age 7), in relation to each of the six father involvement predictors, can be seen in Tables 18-23. Of the key predictors of interest, none of the father involvement constructs were significant predictors of academic performance outcomes at the age 7 data collection.

We examined the degree to which father involvement variables collected at the age 7 wave of the larger longitudinal study (e.g., child spends time with father, child's father does outdoor activities, child eats meals with mother and father, etc.) influenced academic outcomes during the age 7 data collection phase. Regression analyses were conducted for each of the longitudinal study father involvement measures collected at age 7 (Tables 24-31) with relation to



the age 7 academic performance outcomes (i.e., KTEA, TERA-2, and GPA). There were no significant relationships between age 7 father involvement items from the larger longitudinal study and variables from the age 7 academic achievement outcomes.

Aim 2: Regression Analyses—Age 14 Variables (H2.1)

Next, separate regression analyses were repeated for the age 14 academic performance outcomes (Tables 32-37) with relation to each type of identified father involvement predictor and associated covariates. Broad Father Involvement was a significant predictor of WIAT Written Expression (Table 36; $\beta = -.18$, p < .05). There were no other significant associations between father involvement variables collected at the young adult phase and age 14 academic performance outcomes.

Father involvement items from the age 14 data collection phase of the larger longitudinal study were examined to determine the degree to which these father involvement variables (e.g., biological father lives with child, and child spends regular time with father) influenced age 14 academic performance outcomes (i.e., GPA and WIAT scores). When individual hierarchical linear multiple regression was used to predict each academic outcome from each of the father involvement variables from the larger longitudinal study (with age 14 predictors and academic outcomes together in the same model)—while holding key variables constant (H2.2)— there were few significant findings (Tables 38-39). The variable "*Child spends regular time with father*?" was a significant predictor of both GPA (age 14; $\beta = .14$, p < .01)) and WIAT Math scores ($\beta = .09$, p < .05).

Aim 3: Regression Analyses—Gender Differences (H3.1)

The objective of this aim was to investigate gender differences with regard to the influence of father involvement constructs on academic achievement outcomes at different



waves of data collection (i.e., age 7 and 14). To accomplish this task, a filter was created in SPSS allowing separate analysis of male and female data. There were no significant correlations between father involvement measures and academic performance outcomes for males. However, few males provided data on the father involvement constructs at the young adult data collection phase (n = 24), so these findings should be interpreted with caution. For females, there were several notable associations between father involvement variables and achievement performance indicators. Broad Father Involvement was significantly correlated with GPA at age 14 (r = .27, p <.05); School Help father involvement father involvement was associated with WIAT Math scores (r = .27, p <.05); and Total Father Involvement was significantly correlated with WIAT Math scores (r = .25, p <.05) and Math scores (r = .25, p <.05).

Next, the predictive power of father involvement measures with regard to academic performance outcomes as separated by gender was examined to determine if these relationships remained (H3.1). Using separate hierarchical linear multiple regressions, each school-related academic performance outcome was regressed on each type of identified father involvement while holding associated key covariates constant (H3.2) within the female subsample (see analytical description pertaining to Tables 18-39). Regressions were not conducted for the male subsample due to the very small sample size and the lack of significant bivariate correlations. Interestingly, despite significant correlations between father involvement measures and academic performance outcomes for the female subsample, regression analyses yielded no significant findings.

Previously, academic performance outcome variables were regressed on father involvement items from the larger longitudinal sample (Tables 29-39). To determine if there



were any gender differences present in the larger sample, multiple hierarchical linear regression analyses were performed based on gender subsamples, while accounting for several key covariates. There were only two statistically significant findings, both with regard to the male subsample: 1) *"How often does your child eat a meal at the table with both mother and father?"* was a significant predictor of KTEA scores at age 7 (β = .31, *p* <.05); and 2) *"Child spends regular time with father?"* was a significant predictor for GPA at age 14 (β = .21, *p* <.01). There were no significant associations for the female subsample in this set of regression analyses.



CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

The results of this study add to the literature regarding what is known about perceived fathering behaviors among urban African American youth. The focus of this study was to better understand the nature of father involvement in a sample of urban African American youth who have been followed longitudinally across time and through important developmental stages of children's lives and to evaluate the relationship between the father involvement construct and academic and school-related outcomes. Previous research findings focusing on the far-reaching effects of father involvement have been mixed (Meece, 2013; Lundberg, McLanahan, & Rose, 2007; Xu and Yeung, 2013). Clarity is especially needed with regard to urban African American youth. Above and beyond the father involvement construct, there are factors such as poverty and income inequality (McCartney, 2011), racial discrimination and systematic disadvantage (Benhorin & McMahon, 2008), crime and drug use (U.S. Department of Justice, 2002), as well as academic performance (U.S. Department of Education, 2010) that have been shown through research to adversely and disproportionately impact on negative outcomes for urban African American youth. Similarly, factors such as parental marital status and relationship quality (Fagan et al., 2009), intergenerational relationships, and job status have been associated with varying levels of father involvement in previous studies. The goal of the current study was to further shed light on the ways in which this construct affects the longitudinal development of an at-risk subset of youth.

Contrary to some popular beliefs regarding father involvement in urban African American families, the vast majority of participants in the current study reported involvement from fathers, mostly biological, throughout their lives. The first aim was to better understand the ways in which fathers were involved in the lives of their children. The literature suggests that



fathers are involved in the lives of their children in myriad ways (Flouri, 2012; Perry, Harmon, & Leeper, 2012), including play, emotional support, and caregiving activities (Castillo & Sarver, 2012), as well as providing financial support and developmental needs (Doherty et al., 1998; Palkovitz & Palm, 2009). The literature still lacks clarity on the nature of fathering behaviors in urban African American contexts (Jarrett, Roy, and Burton, 2012). Current findings indicate that fathers represented in the present sample were involved in their children's lives in a number of ways with varying degrees of frequency. More specifically, the extent of father involvement varied widely, including frequent contact through visitation with the child, sending greeting cards during special occasions, and speaking with the child over the phone. Also, many fathers were reported to be involved by helping in school, providing social support, promoting intellectual and moral development, monitoring their children's daily activities, as well as encouraging their overall academic achievement. In these different domains, fathers were reported to be involved to varying degrees, and, on average, participants reported that their fathers were involved in these areas at least to a moderate amount, but in many cases, participants rated their fathers as being very involved in their lives while growing up.

Also, as expected, the different types of father involvement examined were all highly correlated but with enough differentiation to stand apart from one another as distinct concepts. Findings from this study help to support the notion that fathers are involved in the lives of their children in myriad ways and to varying extents (Castillo & Sarver, 2012). Particularly, this study corroborates the idea that fathers are not just involved in the lives of their children in so-called "rough-and-tumble" play (Meece, 2013), but are also involved in ways that seek to help their children achieve academically (Pleck, 2007). Further, this study lends support to the idea that despite some of the barriers to involvement (e.g., poverty, job and relationship status,



intergenerational conflict, etc.), urban African American fathers continue to find ways to be involved with their children across their development in meaningful and impactful ways.

In the current study, several subscales measuring father involvement up to age 18 were created. Additionally, father involvement items and measures from the larger longitudinal study (drawn from demographic questionnaires completed by mothers at age 7 and 14 data collection waves) were also used in data analyses. Notably, there were strong correlations between these two sets of measures of father involvement. Such findings give validity to the particular father involvement constructs used, and show a level of congruence in views of father involvement from both mothers and their children across time, from age 7 to young adulthood. Part of the discussion in the literature is whether or not—and perhaps to what degree—mothers' report of father involvement is valid (Coley & Morris, 2002). Current findings not only suggest that current methods of measuring father involvement are valid, but also that reports of father involvement demonstrate convergent validity, holding up across time and across different reporters. While hearing from fathers directly is perhaps the most desirable method of collecting father involvement data, it is instructive to know that valuable information can still be gathered from alternative sources when available.

With regard to academic achievement, the literature suggests that African American youth who are able to excel in their education and who have fathers help them along the way have greater chances of earning advanced degrees (Aud et al., 2010) and better financial life outcomes (Grantham & Henfield, 2011). In this sample, multiple measures of academic achievement were collected, including the Kaufman Test of Education Achievement (KTEA) and the Test of Early Reading Ability—2nd Edition (TERA-2) during the age 7 phase, components of the Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT) at age 14, and Grade Point



Average (GPA) collected at both age 7 and 14 assessments. Most participants performed below average on standardized achievement tests that were collected during the age 7 phase of the larger longitudinal study, with average grades in school. Students' achievement scores did not significantly improve during the age 14 assessment. Likewise, academic performance as measured by grades in school declined from average to near failing. A finding of this kind in an urban, at risk sample is not completely surprising given the wealth of research in this area regarding historically poor performance (Aratani, Wright, & Cooper, 2011; U.S. Department of Education, 2010). We wanted to know if this pattern of achievement was stable over time. In order to ascertain this continuous pattern, participants were asked about their level of academic performance after the age 18/19 data collection phase of the study. Of students surveyed, most had completed high school and a good many were enrolled in school at the time they were surveyed. Very few, however, were taking college-level courses and even fewer had earned a degree of some kind. Given that most were not far out from high school graduation, it may be too early to draw conclusions regarding future degree completion.

These findings support trends of academic performance for African American youth that have improved since the 1940s and in which this particular group has seen a significant decrease in high school dropout rates (U.S. Department of Education, 2010). Current findings also illustrate that although more African American youth from urban environments report high levels of father involvement while growing up and are graduating from high school, few enroll in college immediately after high school compared to other ethnic groups (Palmer and Maramba, 2011). Time will only tell, however, the extent to which this cohort completes higher levels of education and whether higher education is associated with past instances of father involvement.



Given the high frequency of reported father involvement across the sample, and the differences in achievement for students across time, the next step was to examine the ways in which different types of father involvement were related to evidence of academic functioning at different points during development. For the subsample who provided retrospective reports of childhood/adolescent father involvement at the young adulthood data collection (N = 93), only GPA at age 14 was correlated with measures of father involvement. When examining the indicators of father involvement collected as part of the larger study (N = 450), there were very few father involvement indicators that were related to school achievement. There were other constructs, however, that were significantly related to father involvement such as Mother IQ, Child IQ, HOME scores, caregiver marital status, and custody status. Due to the very limited data available on post-secondary academic performance, few conclusions could be drawn regarding the relationships between father involvement constructs and post-secondary academic performance. What is suggested, however, is that the developmental context-including those present in the home, their educational background, and the overall home environment continues to be a strong indicator for father involvement. Future research should investigate which of these constructs—either individually or collectively—are significant contributors to differences seen in the father-child relationship.

Given correlational analyses and the lack of findings with regard to the relationships between father involvement constructs and achievement outcomes, it was not expected that many significant relationships among these constructs would be found in regression analyses with covariates. Indeed, there were no significant associations between father involvement and academic achievement at age 7 with regard to both the main father involvement subsample constructs as well as those from the larger longitudinal study. There were significant findings,



however, at the age 14 data collection phase that included broad involvement's relationship to children's writing abilities as well as time spent with children predicting their broad school performance (via GPA) and math performance. These findings are usually associated with mother involvement and education, and it provides further evidence that fathers can have a similar impact on children. It must be noted, however, that as bivariate correlations did not indicate significant associations among constructs, findings from regression analyses must be viewed with a degree of caution.

Statistical analyses with regard to gender differences present in the sample were exploratory in nature. Based on past research, there is some evidence to suggest that gender differences may exist with regard to the ways in which fathers interact with their children (Clarke-Stewart, 1978; Greene et al., 2001; Nugent, 1987; Wachs, Uzgiris, and Hunt, 1971; Yarrow et al., 1984). These studies suggested that these differences are not so much in the way a father cares for his children, as much as in the types of activities he engages in with them. Fathers have historically been thought to be more involved with their male children overall, devoting more physical activities to males and more activities related to verbal development with female children (Greene et al., 2001). More recent findings on this subject, however, have been mixed (Meece, 2013) when family contextual factors are considered more closely (Lundberg, McLanahan, & Rose, 2007; Xu and Yeung, 2013).

Due to the nature of the present sample and the small number of participants for analyses, there was low statistical power to detect statistically significant associations in this set of analyses. Analyses with male participants yielded no significant findings. For females, however, correlational analyses indicated several relationships between constructs encompassing broad involvement, helping in school, and achievement encouragement with school achievement



outcomes such as GPA and achievement test scores. These relationships are similar to those found in previous studies suggesting that fathers are involved in education promotion for their female children (Greene et al., 2001; Xu and Yeung, 2013). However once held up to the scrutiny of regression analysis, none of the father involvement constructs were significant predictors of school achievement outcomes for females. Operating under the premise that having increased statistical power would help to bear out these relationships, a larger group of participants—drawn from the data of the entire longitudinal cohort—were used in similar regression and correlational analyses for gender difference exploration. There appeared to be some significant predictive relationships with regard to two father involvement constructs (i.e. eating meals and spending regular time with the child) and their effects on achievement scores across time.

Findings from the current study are encouraging and illuminating as they support previous findings regarding the nature of father involvement among urban African American youth. As highlighted in the introduction of this study, the concept of father involvement has evolved in the past several decades from the Engagement-Accessibility-Responsibility approach (Lamb & Pleck, 1985), to a more encompassing and integrated philosophy (Pleck, 2010). This study highlights the moderate to high levels of father involvement by fathers (mostly biological) despite their primarily non-residential status. Likewise, this study demonstrates that fathers are involved in the lives of their children in myriad ways that are similar to generally and historically accepted "norms" for father involvement, including those that demonstrate positive engagement, responsiveness, monitoring, and process responsibility (Pleck, 2010). In the current sample, fathers were reported to have some direct engagement with their children across the lifespan, even if not continuous. Fathers were also reported to take responsibility for certain aspects of the



child's wellbeing by providing for physical needs and being there for the child even if not able to provide direct childcare regularly. Conversely, it would appear that accessibility was lacking in this sample as fathers were frequently reported absent during portions of children's lives during development for various reasons. Other aspects of father involvement as derived from theory on the construct—like providing social support, monitoring, and academic encouragement—were present to some degree in reports from the current sample, further supporting the multi-faceted nature of the construct.

This study was limited in several ways. First, though power analyses indicated that there would be adequate power to detect effects if they were present, there were some analyses that had very small amounts of data available and were thus underpowered. The underpowered nature of this study increased the risk of type II error, meaning that the null hypothesis (no relation between father involvement and academic performance) may have been incorrectly supported at times due to relatively low power to detect effects. Further, in some of the analyses regarding academic performance, many participants' scores were very low and clustered toward the bottom of the distribution of possible scores with few represented across the mid- and upper range of scores. This may indicate a floor effect leading to a false assumption that all participants from this population perform poorly on measures of academic performance, when in fact there may exist measures of academic performance that are more appropriate for this particular population. In addition, the floor effect could have attenuated associations between father involvement and academic performance that might have been supported if measures of academic performance had exhibited greater variability.

In addition, from a methodological standpoint, the degree of difficulty that would be involved with recruiting a sizable sample of young adult participants from the existing



longitudinal cohort was underestimated. Without a large enough sample for the young adult data collection, there were several hypothesized outcomes that appeared to be trending as predicted, but without sufficient power, no definitive conclusions could be drawn. This was especially true for analyses requiring a sufficient sample of male participants from the young adult data collection. While some conclusions were able to be drawn regarding the females in this population, none could be explored regarding males. This obviously limits the generalizability of the findings of this study. Future studies should seek to further explore gender differences with regard to father involvement. The sample of this study was also drawn from a very specific subset of the population—urban African American youth. While it is likely that findings would generalize well to the rest of the population, follow-up studies would need to examine a larger portion of the population to include nuances not captured by the most recent young adult data collection, especially with regard to the father involvement construct. Adding to this point, when sum scores were created representing the different domains of father involvement, participants had to contribute enough data (i.e., 60%) in order to be included in the sum score. To this end, it may be that the use of the all data could yield different results than what is reported here.

Lastly, certain aspects of the study were not implemented from the beginning and were not added to the young adult data collection protocol until later, including questions regarding academic performance and specific time periods for father involvement. As a result, there was not enough quantitative data to include these items in analyses, though qualitative impressions could be made. These data collection shortcomings, while not generally desirable, give concrete and instructive direction for future study in this area.

In future studies of urban African American youth, with regard to father involvement, it might be helpful to explore similar directions as those addressed in the current project with a



greater emphasis on recruiting a larger sample of young adults. With a larger sample, it will likely be easier to ascertain clearer outcomes regarding the hypotheses put forward in this study. Further, having greater power might allow for teasing apart gender differences that are perhaps present in this population. Additionally, future studies could help in the exploration of some of the areas of father involvement that were examined in this sample. Participants might be asked about what forms of father involvement they felt were most impactful for them during their development. Aggregate types of father involvement could be devised and analyses could be conducted to determine the degree of relationship between these constructs and developmental outcomes of interest. In the most recent young adult data collection, the degree to which father involvement impacted such areas as academic performance in college could not be determined as many participants had not yet obtained academic degrees. A follow-up with this subsample could yield greater numbers for analysis and further exploration in this area. Lastly, it would be interesting to better understand how this subsample defines success in their own lives above and beyond academic performance. Such dialogue with participants could reveal fundamental differences in the way that success is defined, giving researchers other avenues to explore with regard to the relationship between "life success" and father involvement during development. This is certainly an exciting time for the study of father involvement with many diverse avenues for further exploration.



APPENDIX A: DATA ANALYSIS

Items	Ν	Mean (SD)
My father did volunteer work at school.	92	1.89 (1.23)
My father went to school activities.	92	2.83 (1.69)
My father was involved in programs for parents.	92	2.80 (1.63)
My father went to parent teacher conferences.	92	2.46 (1.60)
My father went to activities in which I was involved.	92	2.87 (1.65)
My father thought he should help me with my HW.	90	3.94 (1.37)
When I asked for help with HW, my father usually gave it to me.	91	3.33 (1.62)
My father thought HW was a very important part of school.	91	4.01 (1.52)
When I got poor grades, my father offered help.	92	3.10 (1.63)

Table 1Descriptive Statistics for School Help Subscale

Note. Item responses reverse scored. Items range in value from 1-5, "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." Internal consistency (α) is .82.



Table 2School Help Subscale Factor Loadings

		Factor Loadings	
Items	1	2	3
My father did volunteer work at school.		.88	
My father went to school activities.			.81
My father was involved in programs for parents.			.71
My father went to parent teacher conferences.		.55	
My father went to activities in which I was involved.	.65		
My father thought he should help me with my HW.	.35		
When I asked for help with HW, my father usually gave it to me.	.83		
My father thought HW was a very important part of school.	.74		
When I got poor grades, my father offered help.	.80		

Note. Exploratory factor analysis with alpha extraction and varimax rotation. Internal reliabilities for each factor are as follows: 1) (α) is .83; 2) (α) is .70; and 3) (α) is .75.



Table 3Descriptive Statistics for Social Support Subscale

Items	Ν	Mean (SD)	Factor Loading
My father showed that he was proud of me.	91	4.45 (1.77)	.87
My father understood me.	91	3.75 (1.80)	.87
My father listened to me when I needed to talk.	91	4.30 (1.84)	.83
My father made suggestions when I didn't know what to do.	91	4.09 (1.96)	.82
My father gave me good advice.	91	4.36 (1.77)	.87
My father helped me solve problems by giving me information.	91	4.23 (1.80)	.88
My father told me I did a good job when I did something well.	90	4.56 (1.87)	.84
My father nicely told me when I made mistakes.	91	3.82 (1.96)	.85
My father rewarded me when I did something well.	90	4.01 (2.01)	.86
My father helped me practice my activities.	90	3.30 (2.06)	.79
My father took time to help me decide things.	90	3.69 (1.93)	.90
My father got me many of the things I needed.	90	4.06 (1.99)	.84

Note. Items range in value from 1-6, "never" to "always." Internal consistency (α) is .97.



Table 4

Descriptive Statistics for Broad Involvement Subscale: "How involved was your father in the following aspects of your life from birth to age 18?"

Items	N	Mean (SD)	Factor Loading
Intellectual development	90	3.07 (1.56)	.88
Showing affection	90	3.26 (1.47)	.79
Modeling social interactions	90	2.94 (1.50)	.74
Teaching right/wrong	90	3.68 (1.58)	.90
Going to church	90	2.47 (1.64)	.63
Doing physical activities with me	89	2.97 (1.61)	.83
Helping me learn about jobs of interest	90	2.97 (1.71)	.76
Developing responsibility	90	3.42 (1.68)	.90
Developing independence	90	3.31 (1.69)	.85
Teaching me to do things	90	3.43 (1.64)	.86
Leisure, fun, play activities	90	3.10 (1.58)	.81
Providing income	90	3.56 (1.67)	.83
Sharing activities/interests	90	3.01 (1.50)	.86
Mentoring/teaching	90	3.07 (1.60)	.91
Caregiving	90	3.28 (1.62)	.86
Being protective	90	3.98 (1.49)	.81
Giving advice	90	3.58 (1.63)	.89
Discipline	90	3.22 (1.67)	.76
School/homework	90	2.98 (1.65)	.87
Being with me	90	3.24 (1.55)	.85

Note. Items range in value from 1-5, "never involved" to "always involved." Internal consistency (α) is .98.



Table 5Descriptive Statistics for Monitoring Subscale

Items	N	Mean (SD)	Factor Loading
Did your father know what you did during your free time?	89	2.79 (1.41)	.80
Did your father know who you had as friends during your free time?	89	3.13 (1.53)	.89
Did your father usually know what type of homework you had?	89	2.98 (1.53)	.89
Did your father know what you spent your money on?	89	2.85 (1.47)	.84
Did your father usually know when you had a paper or exam due in school?	89	2.73 (1.59)	.88
Did your father know how you did in different subjects in school?	89	3.13 (1.59)	.85
Did your father know where you went when you were out with friends at night?	89	2.94 (1.62)	.88
Did your father normally know where you went and what you did after school?	89	3.08 (1.65)	.91
<i>Note.</i> Items range in value from 1-5, " (α) is .96.	strongly disa	gree" to "strongly agre	e." Internal consistency



Table 6Descriptive Statistics for Achievement Encouragement Subscale

Items	N	Mean (SD)	Factor Loading
Your father had high hopes for your future.	89	4.29 (1.18)	.92
You father wanted you to do your best on everything.	89	4.25 (1.19)	.93
Your father thought you should go to college.	89	4.30 (1.21)	.88
Your father encouraged you to try hard when your grades were poor.	89	3.98 (1.43)	.87
Your father thought succeeding in life was important for you.	89	4.37 (1.15)	.91
Your father thought you were a good student.	89	4.07 (1.32)	.80
Hard work was important to your father.	89	4.10 (1.32)	.85

Note. Items range in value from 1-5, "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." Internal consistency (α) is .96.



Table 7				
Bivariate	Correlations:	Father	Involvement	Subscales

Subscale	School Help	Social Support	Broad Involvement	Monitoring	Achievement
Social Support	.77**				
Broad Involvement	.77**	.87**			
Monitoring	.76**	.78**	.82**		
Achievement	.65**	.72**	.71**	.65**	
Total FI	.85**	.93**	.93**	.90**	.83**

Note. ***p* <.01. *N* is 88-92


Table 8Factor Analysis: Father Involvement Subscale Loadings

-

Subscale	Factor Loading
Broad Involvement	.93
School Help	.84
Social Support	.92
Monitoring	.86
Achievement	.75

Note. Alpha factoring extraction method. Variance values rounded. Internal consistency (α) is .93.



Items	Ν	Mean (SD)	Range
Kaufman Test of Education Achievement	443	8.21 (3.15)	1-18
TERA-2 Achievement Test	439	38.99 (20.23)	.80-93.50
GPA: Combined Avg (1998-1999)	406	2.45 (.85)	0-4.00
GPA: Combined Avg (2002-2008)	421	1.97 (.76)	0-4.00

Table 9School Achievement: Descriptive Statistics for KTEA, TERA-2, and GPA

Note. The Kaufman Test of Education Achievement (KTEA), the Test of Early Reading Ability—2nd Edition (TERA-2) and Grade Point Average (GPA) are indicators of academic performance.



Table 10	
School Achievement:	WIAT at Age 14

Items	N	Mean (SD)	Range	Factor Loading
Basic Reading	422	84.01 (15.49)	45-117	.89
Math Reasoning	422	82.13 (13.31)	47-129	.84
Spelling	422	86.64 (16.62)	46-133	.91
Reading Comprehension	422	85.23 (14.25)	40-136	.85
Numerical Operation	422	74.64 (14.96)	40-126	.79
Written Expression	421	79.80 (16.42)	40-129	.85
Overall Reading	422	80.70 (16.60)	40-132	.93
Overall Written Expression	421	81.30 (18.02)	14-131	.94
Overall Math	422	75.66 (15.04)	0-127	.85

Note. Internal consistency (α) is .96. The Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT) is an academic performance indicator.



Table 11Educational Attainment at Age 19

Items	N	Yes/No
Are you currently in school?	395	165/230
Highest grade completed in school	395	*12 th
Received HS diploma?	394	260/134
Received GED?	394	23/371
Received trade/skill certification?	395	13/382
Received other type of degree/certificate?	395	3/392

Note. Items responses are yes/no. *Modal response.



Variables	Broad Involvement	School Help	Social Support	Monitoring	Achievement Encouragement	Total FI
Kaufman	02	00	07	08	.06	03
TERA-2	.10	.12	.09	.16	.15	.14
GPA (Age 7)	02	.12	.04	.05	.14	.07
GPA (Age 14)	.28**	.17	.23*	.19	.12	.23*
WIAT Reading	.03	.19	.06	.15	.12	.12
WIAT Written Expression	04	.16	.04	.09	.09	.07
WIAT Math	.14	.18	.09	.15	.18	.17
WIAT Composite	.04	.19	.07	.14	.14	.13

Table 12Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales with Academic Performance

Note. *p < .05, **p < .01. The Kaufman Test of Education Achievement (KTEA), the Test of Early Reading Ability—2nd Edition (TERA-2), Grade Point Average (GPA), and the Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT) are indicators of academic performance. *N* is 86-91.



Variables	Broad Involvement	School Help	Social Support	Monitoring	Achievement Encouragement	Total FI
Mother IQ	.11	.23*	.07	.11	.12	.14
Mother Education	.05	.05	.03	.14	.02	.08
Mother Age	04	05	04	.02	.01	02
Father Education	02	.02	13	01	03	05
Father Age	01	08	01	.02	05	03
Child IQ (Age 7)	.06	.03	.00	.08	.19	.06
Child IQ (Age 14)	.18	.21*	.14	.18	.22*	.21*
HOME Score (Age 7)	.12	.06	.11	.15	.22*	.14
HOME Score (Age 14)	.07	.09	.04	.09	.00	.07
Caregiver Marital Status (Age 7)	04	07	14	10	04	07
Caregiver Marital Status (Age 14)	.28**	.26*	.22*	.26*	.17	.25*
Custody Status	.22*	.17	.27*	.23*	.21	.25*
SES	04	.15	.03	01	02	.04

Table 13Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales with Covariates

Note. **p* <.05, *N* is 66-92.



Table 14

Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales with Academic Performance Variables at Age 19

Items	Broad Involvement	School Help	Social Support	Monitoring	Achievement Encouragement	Total FI
Currently in school?	10	03	04	06	08	05
Highest grade completed?	01	.00	.05	.01	.13	.07
Received HS diploma?	.11	.21	.17	.16	.14	.19
Received GED?	08	10	13	01	.04	08
Trade/skill certification?	.00	03	.01	09	.00	03
Other type of degree/cert?						

Note. N ranges from 3-89.



Table 15

Bivariate Correlations: Father Involvement Subscales with Father Involvement Measures from Longitudinal Study

Items	Broad Involvement	School Help	Social Support	Monitoring	Achievement Encouragement	Total FI
Child eats at least one meal per day on most days with mother and father (Age 7)	05	07	11	.10	02	02
Child sees and spends some time with father four days a week (Age 7)	01	.03	.02	04	02	.01
How often does your child eat a meal at the table with both mother and father? (Age 7)	.16	.10	.02	.11	.15	.08
How often does your child spend time playing or "working" with his father? (Age 7)	25	13	08	.01	05	19
Father figure regularly engages in outdoor recreation with child (Age 7)	18	12	26*	13	21	20
Child's father do outdoor activities (Age 7)	.30**	.26*	.17	.39**	.25*	.30**
Child spend time with father (Age 7)	.28**	.24*	.26*	.33**	.07	.26*
Biofather lives with child? (Age 14)	.32**	.15	.27**	.25*	.24*	.27**
Child spend regular time with father? (Age 14)	.31**	.21*	.33**	.38**	.25*	.34**
Spend regular time with father? (Age 19)	.35**	.19	.34**	.34**	.31**	.33**

Note. **p* <.05, ***p* <.01. *N* ranges from 10-91.



Table 16

Bivariate Correlations: FI Items from Longitudinal Study with Academic Performance

Items	KTEA (Age 7)	TERA-2 (Age 7)	GPA (Age 7)	GPA (Age 14)	WIAT Reading	WIAT Written	WIAT Math	WIAT Composite
Child eats at least one meal per day on most days with mother and father (Age 7)	02	05	.03	07	00	00	02	01
Child sees and spends some time with father four days a week (Age 7)	.05	04	06	09	00	00	.00	.00
How often does your child eat a meal at the table with both mother and father? (Age 7)	.20*	.03	.08	.05	.05	.16	.02	.08
How often does your child spend time playing or "working" with his father? (Age 7)	.01	.05	.06	00	.10	.08	00	.06
Father figure regularly engages in outdoor recreation with child (Age 7)	.02	08	02	06	07	09	07	08
Child's father do outdoor activities (Age 7)	03	.02	.09	.02	.00	01	.01	.00
Child spend time with father (Age 7)	02	.02	.04	.00	00	00	.03	.01
Biofather lives with child? (Age 14)	01	.01	.08	.06	01	.01	.01	.00
Child spend regular time with father? (Age 14)	.05	.02	.04	.01	01	.05	.06	.03
Spend regular time with father? (Age 19)	.01	.00	.10	.06	02	.00	.04	.01

Note. *p < .05. The Kaufman Test of Education Achievement (KTEA), Test of Early Reading Ability— 2^{nd} Edition (TERA-2), Grade Point Average (GPA), and Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (WIAT) are academic performance indicators. *N* ranges from 104-439.



Table 17

Bivariate Correlations: FI Items from Longitudinal Study with College Attainment at Age 19

Items	Currently in school?	Highest grade completed?	Received HS diploma?	Received GED?	Trade/skill certification?	Other type of degree/cert?	
Child eats at least one meal per day on most days with mother and father (Age 7)	12*	.02	03	.13*	.01	.06	
Child sees and spends some time with father four days a week (Age 7)	05	02	.01	.03	.04	11*	
How often does your child eat a meal at the table with both mother and father? (Age 7)	16	02	.12	.17	.09		
How often does your child spend time playing or "working" with his father? (Age 7)	12	07	03	09	09		
Father figure regularly engages in outdoor recreation with child (Age 7)	12*	11*	02	.03	.04	11*	
Child's father do outdoor activities (Age 7)	02	.05	.07	10*	01	.08	
Child spend time with father (Age 7)	.01	00	.02	10	00	.03	
Biofather lives with child? (Age 14)	.05	.09	.08	05	.00	.04	
Child spend regular time with father? (Age 14)	.08	.13*	.11*	07	04	.06	
Spend regular time with father? (Age 19)	.02	.05	.09	01	04	.00	

Note. **p* <.05. *N* ranges from 6-97.



	Academic Performance Indicators									
Predictors	KTE B	A (7yr) SEB	n = 86 β	TERA B	TERA-2 (7yr) n = 85			GPA (7yr) n = 78 B SEB β		
Socioeconomic Status	02	.04	06	.49	.20	.28*	.02	.01	.21	
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	63	.80	09	-13.52	4.28	31**	28	.20	15	
Mother's Custody Status	46	.73	07	-2.59	3.96	07	.16	.19	.10	
HOME Score (7yr)	.04	.06	.08	.39	.32	.13	.02	.02	.18	
Mother's Age	.02	.07	.04	15	.35	05	.00	.02	.04	
Caregiver Education	.04	.30	.02	3.24	1.67	.22	.03	.08	.05	
Caregiver IQ	.02	.03	.08	.24	.17	.14	.02	.01	.25*	
Child IQ	.36	.15	.30*	1.11	.80	.14	.04	.04	.13	
Father's Age	00	.05	01	.12	.27	.05	00	.01	04	
Fathers' School Help	13	.30	05	.94	1.62	.06	.02	.07	.02	

Table 18Fathers' School Help as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years



	Academic Performance Indicators											
Predictors	KTH	EA (7yr)	n = 84	TER	A-2 (7yr)	n= 83	GPA(7yr) n = 77					
	B	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β			
Socioeconomic Status	03	.04	09	.50	.20	.28*	.01	.01	.18			
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	81	.83	12	-16.04	4.35	36***	38	.21	20			
Mother's Custody Status	56	.75	09	-3.60	3.97	09	.16	.18	.10			
HOME Score (7yr)	.05	.06	.09	.32	.32	.10	.03	.02	.21			
Mother's Age	.02	.07	.05	07	.35	02	.00	.02	.04			
Caregiver Education	.05	.32	.02	3.97	1.69	.27*	.03	.08	.05			
Caregiver IQ	.02	.03	.07	.22	.17	.13	.02	.01	.24*			
Child IQ	.44	.16	.35**	1.34	.84	.17	.06	.04	.19			
Father's Age	.00	.05	.01	.16	.26	.07	00	.01	01			
Achievement Encouragement Father Involvement	06	.33	02	2.33	1.69	.13	.01	.08	.01			

Table 19

Fathers' Achievement Encouragement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years



	Academic Performance Indicators											
Predictors	KTEA (7yr) n = 85 B SEB β			TERA B	$\begin{array}{c} \text{TERA-2 (7yr) n = 85} \\ \text{B} \qquad \text{SEB} \qquad \beta \end{array}$				GPA (7yr) n = 77 B SEB β			
Socioeconomic Status	03	.04	13	.47	.19	.27*	.01	.01	.15			
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	73	.81	11	-14.80	4.30	33***	35	.21	19			
Mother's Custody Status	55	.75	09	-2.93	3.98	07	.13	.19	.08			
HOME Score (7yr)	.06	.06	.12	.44	.31	.14	.03	.02	.22*			
Mother's Age	.02	.07	.04	12	.35	04	.01	.02	.04			
Caregiver Education	.13	.31	.06	3.37	1.64	.23*	.05	.08	.08			
Caregiver IQ	.02	.03	.08	.25	.17	.15	.02	.01	.26*			
Child IQ	.43	.15	.35**	1.40	.80	.18	.07	.04	.21			
Father's Age	.00	.05	.01	.15	.26	.06	00	.01	02			
Social Support Father Involvement	16	.22	08	.89	1.14	.07	01	.05	02			

Table 20)						
Fathers'	' Social Sup	port as a l	Predictor of	of Academic	Performance	at Age 7 Year	rS



		Academic Performance Indicators										
Predictors	KTEA (7yr) n= 84 Β SEB β		TERA B	A-2 (7yr) SEB	GPA B	GPA (7yr) n = 77 B SEB β						
Socioeconomic Status	03	.04	11	.49	.20	.28*	.01	.01	.16			
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	96	.83	14	-15.35	4.43	34***	40	.21	21			
Mother's Custody Status	41	.74	07	-3.48	4.01	09	.20	.18	.12			
HOME Score (7yr)	.05	.06	.10	.37	.32	.12	.03	.02	.21			
Mother's Age	.02	.07	.04	06	.35	02	.00	.02	.03			
Caregiver Education	.09	.31	.04	3.61	1.69	.24*	.03	.08	.05			
Caregiver IQ	.02	.03	.09	.23	.17	.14	.02	.01	.26*			
Child IQ	.46	.16	.36**	1.46	.84	.18	.07	.04	.21			
Father's Age	.01	.05	.03	.12	.27	.05	00	.02	00			
Monitoring Father Involvement	33	.26	14	1.42	1.39	.10	05	.06	09			

Table 21Fathers' Monitoring as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years



			А	cademic P	erforman	ce Indicator	5			
Predictors	KTI B	EA (7yr) SEB	$n = 85 \beta$	TER. B	A-2 (7yr) SEB	$n = 84 \beta$	GPA B	GPA (7yr) n = 78 B SEB β		
Socioeconomic Status	03	.04	10	.52	.20	.29*	.01	.01	.15	
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	77	.82	11	-15.29	4.32	34***	39	.20	21	
Mother's Custody Status	44	.74	07	-3.03	3.97	08	.21	.18	.13	
HOME Score (7yr)	.05	.06	.11	.44	.31	.14	.03	.02	.21*	
Mother's Age	.01	.07	.03	09	.35	03	.00	.02	.02	
Caregiver Education	.02	.30	.01	3.45	1.64	.24*	.02	.07	.04	
Caregiver IQ	.02	.03	.07	.22	.17	.13	.02	.01	.26*	
Child IQ	.43	.16	.35**	1.28	.81	.16	.07	.04	.22	
Father's Age	.01	.05	.02	.13	.27	.06	.00	.01	.00	
Father's Broad Involvement	14	.27	06	1.59	1.41	.11	06	.07	11	

Table 22Fathers' Broad Involvement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 Years



		Academic Performance Indicators											
Predictors	KTEA (7yr) n = 87 B SEB β			TERA B	TERA-2 (7yr) n = 86 B SEB β				$\begin{array}{l} \text{GPA (7yr) n = 79} \\ \text{B} \text{SEB} \beta \end{array}$				
Socioeconomic Status	02	.04	07	.51	.19	.29**	.02	.01	.21				
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	62	.79	09	-13.42	4.20	31**	28	.20	15				
Mother's Custody Status	44	.73	07	-3.47	3.96	09	.16	.19	.10				
HOME Score (7yr)	.04	.06	.09	.37	.31	.12	.03	.02	.19				
Mother's Age	.02	.07	.03	11	.35	04	.00	.02	.03				
Caregiver Education	.02	.30	.01	3.28	1.64	.23*	.02	.08	.04				
Caregiver IQ	.02	.03	.07	.23	.17	.13	.02	.01	.24*				
Child IQ	.38	.15	.32*	1.05	.78	.14	.05	.04	.15				
Father's Age	00	.05	01	.10	.26	.04	00	.01	04				
Total Father Involvement	23	.39	07	2.60	2.09	.12	02	.10	02				

Table 23	
Total Father Involvement as a Predictor	of Academic Performance at Age 7 Year



		Academic Performance Indicators										
Longitudinal	KTI	EA (7yr)	n = 422	TERA	A-2 (7yr)	n = 419	GP	A (7yr) 1	n = 382			
Fiediciois	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β			
Socioeconomic Status	.01	.01	.04	.26	.09	.15**	.01	.00	.13*			
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	06	.33	01	-3.17	2.03	07	.01	.09	.00			
Mother's Custody Status	.07	.29	.01	-1.20	1.76	03	.00	.08	.00			
HOME Score (7yr)	.03	.03	.05	.57	.17	.17***	.02	.01	.16**			
Mother's Age	00	.03	00	.09	.18	.03	.01	.01	.08			
Caregiver Education	.24	.12	.11*	1.62	.72	.12*	.02	.03	.03			
Caregiver IQ	.02	.02	.08	.31	.09	.16***	.01	.00	.15**			
Child IQ	.39	.05	.36***	1.62	.30	.24***	.07	.01	.24***			
Father's Age	.01	.02	.04	11	.13	05	01	.01	09			
Child spends time with father	19	.29	03	.94	1.81	.02	.00	.08	.00			

"Child spends time with father" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years



"Child eats at least one meal/day on most days with mother and father" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years

	Academic Performance Indicators											
Longitudinal Predictors	KTI	EA (7yr)	n = 414	TERA	A-2 (7yr)	n = 411	GP	A (7yr) n	n = 375			
	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β			
Socioeconomic Status	.01	.02	.05	.27	.09	.15**	.01	.00	.13*			
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	08	.34	01	-3.65	2.05	08	01	.10	01			
Mother's Custody Status	.00	.29	.00	-1.65	1.76	04	01	.08	00			
HOME Score (7yr)	.03	.03	.05	.50	.17	.15**	.02	.01	.16**			
Mother's Age	00	.03	00	.10	.18	.03	.01	.01	.08			
Caregiver Education	.21	.12	.10	1.37	.72	.10	.02	.03	.03			
Caregiver IQ	.02	.02	.07	.32	.09	.17***	.01	.00	.15**			
Child IQ	.40	.05	.37***	1.69	.31	.25***	.06	.01	.22***			
Father's Age	.01	.02	.04	09	.13	04	01	.01	10			
Child eats at least one meal/day on most days with mother and father	.07	.32	.01	.16	1.94	.00	05	.09	03			



"Child sees and spends some time with father 4 days/week" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years

			A	cademic	Performar	nce Indicato	rs			
Longitudinal Predictors	KTEA (7yr) n = 412 B SEB β			TER. B	A-2 (7yr) SEB	n = 409 β	GP. B	$\begin{array}{c} \text{GPA (7yr) } n = 373 \\ \text{B} \text{SEB} \beta \end{array}$		
Socioeconomic Status	.01	.02	.04	.27	.09	.16**	.01	.00	.13*	
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	04	.33	01	-3.83	2.03	08	01	.09	01	
Mother's Custody Status	01	.29	00	-1.62	1.76	04	01	.08	00	
HOME Score (7yr)	.04	.03	.07	.48	.17	.14**	.02	.01	.15**	
Mother's Age	00	.03	01	.10	.18	.03	.01	.01	.08	
Caregiver Education	.19	.12	.09	1.46	.72	.10*	.02	.03	.03	
Caregiver IQ	.02	.02	.08	.31	.09	.16***	.01	.00	.14	
Child IQ	.40	.05	.37***	1.67	.31	.25***	.06	.01	.23***	
Father's Age	.01	.02	.04	08	.13	04	01	.01	10	
Child sees and spends some time with father 4 days/week	.34	.30	.05	.44	1.86	.01	08	.09	05	



Table 27

"How often does your child eat a meal at the table with	" both mother and father?"	' as a Predictor of Academic
Performance at Age 7 years		

		Academic Performance Indicators									
Longitudinal Predictors	KTE. B	A (7yr) n SEB	= 109 β	TERA B	-2 (7yr) n SEB	= 109 β	GPA B	$\begin{array}{c} \text{GPA (7yr) n = 98} \\ \text{B} \text{SEB} \beta \end{array}$			
Socioeconomic Status	00	.03	01	.37	.17	.22*	.02	.01	.20		
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	.52	.61	.08	-7.02	3.77	18	22	.20	12		
Mother's Custody Status	.62	.55	.11	4.39	3.40	.12	10	.18	06		
HOME Score (7yr)	.04	.05	.09	05	.33	02	.02	.02	.16		
Mother's Age	03	.05	06	05	.34	02	.02	.02	.12		
Caregiver Education	.15	.22	.08	1.97	1.38	.16	.01	.07	.02		
Caregiver IQ	.05	.03	.18	.31	.18	.17	.00	.01	00		
Child IQ	.24	.10	.25*	1.03	.59	.17	.02	.03	.08		
Father's Age	.00	.03	.01	.17	.20	.10	01	.01	12		
How often does your child eat a meal at the table with both mother and father?	.46	.28	.15	.13	1.74	.01	00	.09	01		



Table 28

"How often does your child spend time playing or working with his father?" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years

	Academic Performance Indicators												
Longitudinal Predictors	KTE. B	A (7yr) n SEB	$= 108$ β	TERA B	-2 (7yr) n SEB	$= 108$ β	GPA B	(7yr) n SEB	= 97 β				
Socioeconomic Status	.00	.03	.01	.40	.17	.24*	.02	.01	.21				
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	.87	.62	.14	-6.83	3.71	17	22	.21	12				
Mother's Custody Status	.60	.56	.11	5.30	3.32	.15	08	.18	05				
HOME Score (7yr)	.06	.06	.13	09	.33	03	.02	.02	.16				
Mother's Age	02	.05	05	06	.33	02	.02	.02	.12				
Caregiver Education	.12	.23	.06	2.35	1.35	.19	.02	.07	.03				
Caregiver IQ	.06	.03	.20	.24	.18	.14	00	.01	01				
Child IQ	.25	.10	.26*	.90	.58	.15	.02	.03	.07				
Father's Age	01	.03	02	.19	.20	.11	01	.01	11				
How often does your child spend time playing or working with his father	.18	.19	.09	1.09	1.14	.09	.02	.06	.04				



O	2
Ø	L

"Father regularly engages in outdoor recreation with child" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years

	Academic Performance Indicators												
Longitudinal Predictors	KT B	EA (7yr) SEB	$n = 423$ β	TER. B	A-2 (7yr) SEB	$n = 420$ β	GP B	A (7yr) r SEB	n = 383 β				
Socioeconomic Status	.01	.01	.04	.26	.09	.15**	.01	.00	.13*				
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	02	.33	00	-3.31	2.04	07	.00	.09	.00				
Mother's Custody Status	.08	.29	.01	-1.27	1.75	03	.00	.08	.00				
HOME Score (7yr)	.04	.03	.08	.51	.17	.15**	.02	.01	.15**				
Mother's Age	01	.03	01	.10	.18	.03	.01	.01	.08				
Caregiver Education	.23	.12	.11*	1.63	.72	.12*	.02	.03	.03				
Caregiver IQ	.02	.02	.07	.32	.09	.16***	.01	.00	.15**				
Child IQ	.38	.05	.36***	1.65	.30	.24***	.07	.01	.25***				
Father's Age	.01	.02	.04	11	.13	05	01	.01	10				
Father regularly engages in outdoor recreation with child	.22	.30	.03	98	1.85	02	03	.08	02				



	Academic Performance Indicators												
Longitudinal Predictors	KTI	EA (7yr)	n = 399	TERA	A-2 (7yr)	n = 397	GP	A (7yr) 1	n = 362				
riediciois	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β				
Socioeconomic Status	.00	.02	.01	.25	.09	.14**	.01	.00	.10				
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	02	.34	00	-2.64	2.08	06	.10	.10	.05				
Mother's Custody Status	.04	.29	.01	-1.16	1.80	03	01	.08	01				
HOME Score (7yr)	.03	.03	.05	.57	.17	.17***	.02	.01	.16**				
Mother's Age	02	.03	04	.14	.19	.05	.01	.01	.11				
Caregiver Education	.26	.12	.12*	1.64	.74	.12*	.02	.03	.03				
Caregiver IQ	.03	.02	.10	.31	.09	.16***	.01	.00	.17***				
Child IQ	.39	.05	.37***	1.70	.31	.25***	.07	.01	.27***				
Father's Age	.03	.02	.08	13	.14	06	01	.01	10				
Child's father does outdoor activities	19	.32	03	07	1.99	00	03	.09	02				

Table 30				
"Child's father does outdoor activities"	' as a Predictor o	f Academic Per	formance at A	lge 7 years



	Academic Performance Indicators												
Longitudinal Predictors	KTI	EA (7yr)	n = 402	TERA	A-2 (7yr)	n = 400	GP	A (7yr) 1	n = 365				
Tredictors	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β				
Socioeconomic Status	.00	.02	.01	.25	.09	.14**	.01	.00	.11				
Caregiver's Marital Status (7yr)	03	.34	00	-2.41	2.07	05	.10	.09	.05				
Mother's Custody Status	.05	.29	.01	91	1.79	02	01	.08	01				
HOME Score (7yr)	.03	.03	.06	.57	.17	.17	.02	.01	.16**				
Mother's Age	01	.03	03	.14	.19	.05	.02	.01	.12				
Caregiver Education	.25	.12	.11*	1.54	.74	.11*	.02	.03	.03				
Caregiver IQ	.03	.02	.09	.31	.09	.16***	.01	.00	.16***				
Child IQ	.38	.05	.36***	1.69	.30	.25***	.07	.01	.27***				
Father's Age	.03	.02	.08	13	.14	06	01	.01	11				
Child spends time with father	08	.29	01	23	1.78	01	.03	.08	.02				

Table 31"Child spends time with father" as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 7 years



 Table 32

 Fathers' School Help as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years

	Academic Performance Indicators														
Predictors	B	GPA (14y n = 84 SEB	γr) β	W B	WIAT Reading n = 85 B SEB β			WIAT Written Expression n = 85 B SEB β			WIAT M n = 85 SEB	ath β	WIAT Composite n = 85 B SEB β		
Socioeconomic Status	01	.01	15	.12	.14	.09	.15	.16	.10	01	.10	01	.01	.01	.07
Caregiver's Marital Status (14yr)	10	.17	06	49	3.03	01	-2.17	3.60	06	.60	2.27	.02	04	.14	02
Mother's Custody Status	.30	.16	.22	1.26	2.73	.04	71	3.24	02	1.33	2.04	.05	.04	.13	.02
HOME Score (14yr)	.02	.01	.24*	.06	.14	.04	.07	.17	.04	.02	.10	.01	.00	.01	.03
Mother's Age	01	.01	09	10	.24	04	.22	.29	.08	22	.18	11	00	.01	02
Caregiver Education	02	.06	03	1.77	1.10	.15	1.73	1.30	.13	07	.82	01	.07	.05	.10
Caregiver IQ	.00	.01	.05	03	.12	02	.03	.14	.02	.05	.09	.04	.00	.01	.01
Child IQ	.02	.01	.31*	.79	.11	.64***	.82	.14	.60***	.83	.09	.80***	.05	.01	.74***
Father's Age	01	.01	09	.07	.18	.04	.04	.22	.02	.09	.14	.06	.00	.01	.04
School Help Father Involvement	.04	.07	.07	.06	1.17	.00	18	1.39	01	51	.88	04	01	.06	02

Table 33 Fathers' Achievement Encouragement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years

	Academic Performance Indicators														
Predictors		GPA (14) $n = 82$	yr)	W	/IAT Rea n = 83	ding	WIAT	Written E n=83	xpression		WIAT M $n = 83$	ath	W	IAT Com n=83	posite
	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β
Socioeconomic Status	.01	.01	14	.11	.14	.08	.14	.17	.09	02	.10	01	.00	.01	.06
Caregiver's Marital Status (14yr)	.12	.17	09	1.71	2.91	.05	88	3.51	02	1.21	2.15	.04	.05	.14	.02
Mother's Custody Status	.36	.16	.27*	1.93	2.77	.06	10	3.35	00	1.34	2.05	.05	.07	.13	.04
HOME Score (14yr)	.02	.01	.23	.04	.14	.03	.06	.17	.03	.00	.10	.00	.00	.01	.02
Mother's Age	.01	.01	07	14	.24	06	.17	.30	.06	19	.18	09	00	.01	03
Caregiver Education	.00	.06	01	1.22	1.09	.10	1.31	1.32	.10	12	.81	01	.05	.05	.07
Caregiver IQ	.01	.01	.10	04	.12	03	.02	.14	.01	.04	.09	.04	.00	.01	.01
Child IQ	.02	.01	.30*	.81	.12	.67***	.84	.14	.62***	.82	.09	.80***	.05	.01	.76***
Father's Age	.01	.01	07	.10	.18	.05	.06	.22	.03	.11	.13	.07	.01	.01	.05
Achievement Encouragement Father Involvement	.00	.07	01	82	1.18	06	84	1.43	05	16	.87	01	04	.06	05



 Table 34

 Fathers' Social Support as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years

	Academic Performance Indicators														
Predictors	(GPA (14y n = 84	r)	WIAT Reading $n = 85$			WIAT Written Expression n = 85				WIAT Ma n = 85	ath	WIAT Composite n = 85		
	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β
Socioeconomic Status	01	.01	15	.12	.14	.09	.15	.16	.09	01	.10	01	.01	.01	.06
Caregiver's Marital Status (14yr)	14	.16	10	1.45	2.89	.04	-1.05	3.47	03	1.29	2.10	.04	.04	.14	.02
Mother's Custody Status	.31	.16	.23*	1.71	2.76	.05	36	3.32	01	1.68	2.00	.06	.07	.13	.04
HOME Score (14yr)	.02	.01	.25*	.03	.14	.02	.05	.17	.03	00	.10	00	.00	.01	.02
Mother's Age	01	.01	06	11	.24	05	.19	.29	.07	20	.18	10	00	.01	02
Caregiver Education	.00	.06	.00	1.45	1.08	.12	1.51	1.30	.12	14	.78	01	.05	.05	.09
Caregiver IQ	.01	.01	.11	06	.12	04	.01	.14	.01	.04	.09	.04	00	.01	00
Child IQ	.01	.01	.25*	.83	.11	.68***	.85	.14	.62***	.83	.08	.82***	.05	.01	.77***
Father's Age	01	.01	08	.09	.18	.05	.05	.22	.03	.11	.13	.07	.01	.01	.05
Social Support Father Involvement	.07	.05	.16	80	.81	08	75	.98	07	46	.59	06	04	.04	07



 Table 35

 Fathers' Monitoring as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years

	Academic Performance Indicators														
Predictors	(GPA (14y $n = 82$	т)	WIAT Reading n = 83			WIAT Written Expression n = 83 B SEB 6			D	WIAT Man $n = 83$	ath	WIAT Composite n = 83 B SEB B		
	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	р	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β
Socioeconomic Status	01	.01	13	.12	.14	.08	.14	.17	.09	02	.10	02	.00	.01	.06
Caregiver's Marital Status (14yr)	14	.17	10	1.63	2.95	.05	80	3.56	02	1.38	2.17	.05	.05	.14	.03
Mother's Custody Status	.34	.16	.25*	1.66	2.78	.05	21	3.36	01	1.48	2.04	.06	.06	.13	.04
HOME Score (14yr)	.02	.01	.23	.05	.14	.03	.07	.17	.04	.00	.10	.00	.00	.01	.03
Mother's Age	01	.01	06	14	.25	06	.16	.30	.06	20	.18	10	00	.01	03
Caregiver Education	00	.06	00	1.31	1.09	.11	1.40	1.31	.11	11	.80	01	.05	.05	.08
Caregiver IQ	.01	.01	.09	05	.12	04	.02	.14	.01	.05	.09	.04	.00	.01	.01
Child IQ	.01	.01	.28*	.79	.11	.66***	.83	.14	.61***	.83	.08	.81***	.05	.01	.75***
Father's Age	01	.01	08	.10	.18	.06	.07	.22	.03	.11	.13	.07	.01	.01	.06
Monitoring Father Involvement	.04	.06	.08	15	.98	01	49	1.19	04	40	.72	04	02	.05	03



Table 36
Fathers' Broad Involvement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years

	Academic Performance Indicators														
Predictors	В	GPA (14y n = 83 SEB	νr) β	W B	/IAT Rea n = 84 SEB	ding β	WIAT B	Written E n= 84 SEB	xpression β	В	WIAT M n = 84 SEB	ath β	W B	IAT Con n = 84 SEB	posite I β
Socioeconomic Status	01	.01	10	.07	.14	.05	.09	.17	.06	02	.10	02	.00	.01	.03
Caregiver's Marital Status (14yr)	17	.17	12	2.27	2.90	.07	02	3.47	.00	1.32	2.16	.05	.08	.14	.04
Mother's Custody Status	.32	.16	.24*	2.06	2.72	.07	.41	3.26	.01	1.41	2.02	.05	.08	.13	.05
HOME Score (14yr)	.02	.01	.24*	.03	.14	.02	.05	.16	.03	00	.10	.00	.00	.01	.02
Mother's Age	01	.01	05	15	.24	06	.14	.29	.05	20	.18	10	01	.01	04
Caregiver Education	.01	.06	.01	1.31	1.07	.11	1.32	1.28	.10	12	.79	01	.05	.05	.07
Caregiver IQ	.00	.01	.08	03	.12	02	.04	.14	.03	.05	.09	.04	.00	.01	.02
Child IQ	.01	.01	.24	.85	.11	.70***	.90	.14	.66***	.83	.08	.81***	.05	.01	.79***
Father's Age	01	.01	09	.11	.18	.06	.08	.21	.04	.11	.13	.07	.01	.01	.06
Broad Father Involvement	.10	.06	.20	-1.95	1.02	16	-2.48	1.22	18*	30	.76	03	09	.05	14



Table 37
Total Father Involvement as a Predictor of Academic Performance at Age 14 years

							Academic	e Performa	nce Indicato	ors					
Longitudinal Predictors	В	GPA (14y n= 85 SEB	νr) β	В В	/IAT Rea n = 86 SEB	ding β	WIAT B	Written E n = 86 SEB	xpression β	В	WIAT M n= 86 SEB	ath β	W B	IAT Com n = 8 SEB	posite 6 β
Socioeconomic Status	01	.01	14	.12	.14	.08	.14	.16	.09	01	.10	01	.01	.01	.06
Caregiver's Marital Status (14yr)	16	.17	11	1.04	2.95	.03	-1.08	3.45	03	.86	2.18	.03	.02	.14	.01
Mother's Custody Status	.30	.16	.22	1.20	2.80	.04	44	3.27	01	1.19	2.07	.04	.04	.13	.02
HOME Score (14yr)	.02	.01	.25*	.04	.14	.03	.06	.16	.03	.01	.10	.01	.00	.01	.03
Mother's Age	01	.01	08	13	.25	05	.19	.29	.07	22	.18	11	00	.01	03
Caregiver Education	00	.06	01	1.48	1.10	.12	1.51	1.29	.12	12	.81	01	.06	.05	.09
Caregiver IQ	.01	.01	.08	06	.12	05	.01	.14	.01	.03	.09	.03	.00	.01	01
Child IQ	.01	.01	.26*	.84	.12	.68***	.87	.14	.63***	.84	.09	.81***	.05	.01	.77***
Father's Age	01	.01	09	.06	.18	.03	.04	.21	.02	.09	.14	.05	.00	.01	.04
Total Father Involvement	.10	.09	.13	-1.21	1.55	07	-1.63	1.81	08	48	1.14	03	07	.07	07



Table 38	
Predicting Academic Performance at Age 14 years from	"Biological father lives with child?"

							Academic	Performan	ce Indicators						
Longitudinal Predictors	GPA (14yr) $n = 324$ $P SEP 8$			WIAT Reading n = 327		WIAT Written Expression n=326 B SEB B		WIAT Math n = 327			WIAT Composite n=327				
Socioeconomic Status	00	00	p	05	07	03	10	08	P	06	06	05	00	00	05
Caregiver's Marital Status (14yr)	04	.10	02	1.21	1.65	.03	1.02	1.86	.03	.88	1.31	.03	.00	.08	.03
Mother's Custody Status	.10	.08	.07	81	1.39	02	02	1.56	.00	1.33	1.10	.04	.01	.06	.01
HOME Score (14yr)	.01	.01	.10	.09	.08	.05	.13	.09	.07	.06	.06	.03	.01	.00	.06
Mother's Age	01	.01	07	.20	.14	.08	.39	.16	.14*	.09	.11	.04	.01	.01	.09*
Caregiver Education	.03	.03	.06	.88	.58	.07	.60	.65	.05	05	.46	00	.03	.03	.04
Caregiver IQ	01	.00	06	.01	.07	.01	.00	.08	.00	02	.06	01	00	.00	00
Child IQ	.02	.00	.41***	.76	.06	.62***	.82	.06	.61***	.87	.04	.77***	.05	.00	.74***
Father's Age	.00	.01	.02	26	.11	13*	30	.12	14	10	.09	06	01	.01	12*
Father's Education	.00	.03	.01	1.06	.53	.08*	.99	.60	.07*	.45	.42	.04	.05	.03	.07*
Biological father lives with child?	.05	.11	.03	-2.22	1.83	05	.40	2.07	.01	1.10	1.46	.03	01	.09	01



n	2
ч	/
`	_

 Table 39

 Predicting Academic Performance at Age 14 years from "Child spends regular time with father?"

	Academic Performance Indicators														
Longitudinal Predictors	GPA (14yr) n = 323			WIAT Reading n = 326		WIAT Written Expression n = 325		WIAT Math $n = 326$			WIAT Composite n=326				
	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β	В	SEB	β
Socioeconomic Status	.00	.00	04	.06	.07	.04	.11	.08	.07	.08	.06	.06	.01	.00	.06
Caregiver's Marital Status (14yr)	.07	.09	04	.61	1.58	.02	.89	1.77	.02	.57	1.24	.02	.04	.07	.02
Mother's Custody Status	.09	.08	.06	87	1.39	03	13	1.56	00	1.15	1.10	.04	.01	.07	.00
HOME Score (14yr)	.01	.01	.08	.09	.08	.05	.13	.09	.06	.04	.06	.02	.01	.00	.05
Mother's Age	.01	.01	07	.20	.14	.08	.39	.16	.14*	.09	.11	.04	.01	.01	.09*
Caregiver Education	.03	.03	.05	.85	.58	.07	.57	.65	.04	15	.46	01	.02	.03	.04
Caregiver IQ	.00	.00	06	.01	.07	.01	.00	.08	.00	01	.06	01	.00	.00	.00
Child IQ	.02	.00	.42***	.76	.06	.62***	.82	.06	.61***	.88	.04	.78***	.05	.00	.74***
Father's Age	.00	.01	.04	26	.11	14*	29	.12	14*	08	.09	05	.01	.01	12*
Father's Education	.01	.03	.01	1.06	.53	.08*	.99	.60	.07	.46	.42	.04	.05	.03	.07*
Child spends regular time with father?	.22	.08	.14**	59	1.42	02	.97	1.60	.03	2.80	1.12	.09*	.07	.07	.04



			Data Collectio	n Dhasa	
			Data Conectio		
	Birth (1989- 1991)	Age 7 (1996-1999) (5.98-8.32)	Age 14 (2003-2006) (12.93-17.75)	Age 19 (2008-2011) (15.05-23.03)	Young Adult (2013-2015)
Measures	Mother Age	GPA (1998- 1999)	GPA (2002- 2008)	College Attainment	School Help (ASAIHR)
	Father	Child IQ	Child IQ	Longitudinal	Social Support
	Age	Mother IQ	Mother IQ	F1	(CASSSR) Broad Involvement (FIS)
		HOME	HOME		Monitoring (MONR)
		Caregiver	Caregiver		Achievement
		Marital Status	Marital Status		Encouragement (ACHR)
		Mother	Mother		Total FI
		Education	Education		
		Father Education	Father Education		Education Attainment
					Status
		KTEA	WIAT		Father Type
		TERA-2	SES		
		Longitudinal FI	Longitudinal FI		

Table 40Study Measures Separated by Data Collection Phase



APPENDIX B: STUDY MEASURES

Father Involvement Preliminary Checklist

1. Do you <u>currently</u> have contact with your biological father? YES NO

b. IF NO, What is the reason you do not have contact with your biological father?

2. Have you always been in contact with your biological father? YES NO

b. IF NO, at what age(s) were you not in contact with your biological father and why?

If YES, discontinue.

If NO, continue.

3. If you are not currently in contact with your biological father, is there a male individual who is like a father to you, in other words a "father figure?" YES NO

b. If YES, how is this person related to you? (e.g., uncle, maternal grandfather, stepfather, etc.)

4. If you did not have contact with your biological father in the past, was there a male individual who is like a father to you, in other words a "father figure?" YES NO

b. How was this person related to you? (e.g., uncle, maternal grandfather, stepfather, etc.)

Summary:

Time Period		Father Type (circle)	
Current	Biological	Father Figure ()	None
Past	Biological	Father Figure ()	None

*Participants must identify ONLY ONE for each time period. If NONE is selected, participants must answer questionnaires to the best of their abilities according to ANY contact that they had with either their biological father or a father figure



Educational Attainment Status

1. Are you currently in school? $0 = no$ $1 = yes$									
a. If YES, circle which one participant is currently attending:									
High school College/University Trade school									
b. If NO, do you have plans to enroll in the near future?									
When? What kind of program?									
c. If participant is taking college or trade school classes, how many hours per week?									
2. What is the highest grade you completed?									
3. Have you received any of the following? (Please circle all applicable responses; if participant is still in high school, go to question #11).)									
HS Diploma GED Trade/Skill Certification Other									
 4. What is the last level of formal education you have completed? 0 - No formal schooling 1 - 7th grade or less 2- Junior high completed 3 - Partial high school (at least one year) 4 - High school graduate/GED certificate 5 - Partial college (at least one year) or specialized training 6 - Junior college/Associates degree (2 years) 7 - Standard college or university degree (4 years) 8 - Graduate professional training or graduate degree 									



ASAIH—Retrospective "School Help"

Please circle the response that best reflects your feelings.

1. My father did volunteer work at school.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

2. My father did not go to school activities.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

3. My father was not involved in programs for parents.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

4. My father went to parent teacher conferences.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

5. My father went to activities in which I was involved.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

6. My father thought he should not help me with my homework.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

7. When I asked for help with homework, my father usually gave it to me.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

8. My father thought homework was a very important part of school.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

9. When I got poor grades, my father offered help.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5


Child & Adolescent Social Support Scale (CASSS, 2000)—Retrospective "Social Support"

My father...

1. ...showed that he was proud of me.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

2. ... understood me.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

3. ...listened to me when I needed to talk.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

4. ...made suggestions when I didn't know what to do.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

5. ...gave me good advice.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

6. ...helped me solve problems by giving me information.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

7. ...told me I did a good job when I did something well.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

8. ...nicely told me when I made mistakes.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

9. ...rewarded me when I did something well.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

10. ...helped me practice my activities.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

11. ...took time to help me decide things.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6

12. ...got me many of the things I needed.

Never	Almost Never	Some of the Time	Most of the Time	Almost Always	Always
1	2	3	4	5	6



Father Involvement Scale "Broad Involvement"

Please place the appropriate number on the line *before* each of the following items.

	How follo deve	<i>involvec</i> owing as elopmen	$\frac{1}{4}$ was you spects of at from bi	ur father your life orth to age	in the and e 18?			What <i>d</i> involves	<i>id you</i> w ment to ac	<i>vant</i> your be comp ctually wa	father's ared with as?	level of h what it
		1 = N $2 = R$ $3 = Sor$ $4 = ($ $5 = A$	Vever Inv tarely Inv netimes 1 Often Inv Jways In	volved volved Involved volved		Involvement Domains		4	1 = Mu 2 = A Li 3 = It 4 = A Li 5 = Mu	ch Less I ittle Less Was Jus ttle More ch More	Involved Involved t Right Involve Involvec	1 d 1
1a.	1	2	3	4	5	Intellectual development	1b.	1	2	3	4	5
2a.	1	2	3	4	5	Showing affection	2b.	1	2	3	4	5
3a.	1	2	3	4	5	Modeling social interactions	3b.	1	2	3	4	5
4a.	1	2	3	4	5	Teaching right/wrong	4b.	1	2	3	4	5
5a.	1	2	3	4	5	Going to church	5b.	1	2	3	4	5
6a.	1	2	3	4	5	Doing physical activities with me	6b.	1	2	3	4	5
7a.	1	2	3	4	5	Helping me learn about jobs of interest	7b.	1	2	3	4	5
8a.	1	2	3	4	5	Developing responsibility	8b.	1	2	3	4	5
9a.	1	2	3	4	5	Developing independence	9b.	1	2	3	4	5
10a.	1	2	3	4	5	Teaching to do things	10b.	1	2	3	4	5
11a.	1	2	3	4	5	Leisure, fun, play	11b.	1	2	3	4	5
12a.	1	2	3	4	5	Providing income	12b.	1	2	3	4	5
13a.	1	2	3	4	5	Sharing activities/interests	13b.	1	2	3	4	5
14a.	1	2	3	4	5	Mentoring/teaching	14b.	1	2	3	4	5
15a.	1	2	3	4	5	Caregiving	15b.	1	2	3	4	5
16a.	1	2	3	4	5	Being protective	16b.	1	2	3	4	5
17a.	1	2	3	4	5	Giving advice	17b.	1	2	3	4	5
18a.	1	2	3	4	5	Discipline	18b.	1	2	3	4	5
19a.	1	2	3	4	5	School/homework	19b.	1	2	3	4	5
20a.	1	2	3	4	5	Being with me	20b.	1	2	3	4	5



MONITORING – Pregnancy Study Retrospective Report

Please circle the response that best reflects your feelings.

1. Did your father know what you did during your free time?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

2. Did your father know who you had as friends during your free time?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

3. Did your father usually know what type of homework you had?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

4. Did your father know what you spent your money on?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

5. Did your father usually know when you had a paper or exam due in school?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

6. Did your father know how you did in different subjects at school?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

7. Did your father know where you went when you were out with friends at night?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

8. Did your father normally know where you went and what you did after school?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

9. Did your father ever have no idea of where you were at night?

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

Turn the page over \rightarrow



ACHIEVEMENT – Pregnancy Study Retrospective Report "Achievement Encouragement"

1. Your father had high hopes for your future.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

2. Your father wanted you to do your best on everything.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

3. Your father thought you should go to college.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

4. Your father encouraged you to try hard when your grades were poor.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

5. Your father thought succeeding in life was important for you.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

6. Your father thought you were a good student.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5

7. Hard work was important to your father.

Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Not Sure	Agree	Strongly Agree
1	2	3	4	5



REFERENCES

- Abel, Y. (2012). African American Fathers' Involvement in their Children's School-based Lives. Journal of Negro Education, 81(2), 162-172.
- Alexander, R. r. (2010). The Impact of Poverty on African American Children in the Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice Systems. Forum On Public Policy Online, 2010(4).
- Anderson, E., (1999). *Code of the street: Decency, violence and the moral life of the inner city.* New York, NY: Norton & Company.
- Amato, P. R., & Rivera, F. (1999). Paternal involvement and children's behavior problems. Journal of Marriage and Family, 61, 375-384.
- Aratani, Y., Wright, V., & Cooper, J. (2011). Racial Gaps in Early Childhood: Socio-emotional Health, Developmental, and Educational Outcomes Among African-American Boys. National Center for Children in Poverty, Mailman School of Public Health, Columbia University.
- Avalos, D. A. (2014). Poverty and the public school system: Student persistence from elementary school to college graduation. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section* A, 74.
- Bailey, J. A., Hill, K. G., Guttmannova, K., Oesterle, S., Hawkins, J., Catalano, R. F., & McMahon, R. J. (2013). The association between parent early adult drug use disorder and later observed parenting practices and child behavior problems: Testing alternate models. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(5), 887-899. doi:10.1037/a0029235
- Baker, C. E. (2014). African American fathers' contributions to children's early academic achievement: Evidence from two-parent families from the Early Childhood Longitudinal



Study–Birth Cohort. *Early Education and Development*, 25(1), 19-35. doi:10.1080/10409289.2013.764225

- Benhorin, S., & McMahon, S. D. (2008). Exposure to violence and aggression: Protective roles of social support among urban African American youth. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 36(6), 723-743.
- Black, M. M., & Ricardo, I. B. (1994). Drug use, drug trafficking, and weapon carrying among low-income, African-American, early adolescent boys. (Adolescent Drug Trafficking supplement).*Pediatrics*, (6), 1065.
- Blake, J., Macdonald, S., Bayrami, L., Agosta, V., & Milian, A. (2006). Book reading styles in dual□parent and single□mother families. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76(3), 501-515.
- Blankenhorn, D. (1995). Fatherless America. New York: Basic Books.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment, Vol. 1 of Attachment and loss.
- Brittian, A. S., Kim, S. Y., Armenta, B. E., Lee, R. M., Umaña-Taylor, A. J., Schwartz, S. J., & ... Hudson, M. L. (2015). Do dimensions of ethnic identity mediate the association between perceived ethnic group discrimination and depressive symptoms? *Cultural Diversity And Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 21(1), 41-53. doi:10.1037/a0037531
- Broman, C. L., Neighbors, H. W., Delva, J., Torres, M., & Jackson, J. S. (2008). Prevalence of substance use disorders among African Americans and Caribbean Blacks in the national survey of American life. *American Journal Of Public Health*, 98(6), 1107-1114. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2006.100727
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.



- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Developmental Psychology, 22,* 723–742.
- Brown Givens, S. M., & Monahan, J. L. (2005). Priming mammies, jezebels, and other controlling images: An examination of the influence of mediated stereotypes on perceptions of an African American woman. *Media Psychology*, 7(1), 87-106.
- Bus, A. G., Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., & Pellegrini, A. D. (1995). Joint book reading makes for success in learning to read: A meta-analysis on intergenerational transmission of literacy. *Review of Educational Research*, 65(1), 1-21.
- Bzostek, S. H. (2008). Social Fathers and Child Well-Being. Journal of Marriage & Family, 70(4), 950-961.
- Castillo, J. T., & Sarver, C. M. (2012). Nonresident fathers' social networks: The relationship between social support and father involvement.(Report). *Personal Relationships*, 759. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6811.2011.01391.x/abstract
- Cabrera, N. J., Fagan, J., & Farrie, D. (2008). Explaining the long reach of fathers' prenatal involvement on later paternal engagement. *Journal of Marriage and Family, 70*, 1094-1107.
- Caldwell, B. M., & Bradley, R. (n.d). Home Observation for Measurement of the Environment.
- Chang, Y. (2013). The Relation Between Mothers' Attitudes Toward Maternal Employment and Social Competence of 36-Month-Olds: The Roles of Maternal Psychological Well-Being and Sensitivity. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 22(7), 987-999.
- Clarke-Stewart, K.A. (1978). And Daddy Makes Three: The Father's Impact on Mother and Young Child. *Child Development*, *49*, 466-478.

Clarke-Stewart, K.A. (1980). The Father's Contribution to Children's Cognitive and Social



Development in Early Childhood. In F.A. Pedersen (Ed.), *The father-infant relationship* (pp. 111-146). New York: Praeger.

- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, S95-S120.
- Coley, R. L., & Medeiros, B. L. (2007). Reciprocal longitudinal relations between nonresident father involvement and adolescent delinquency. *Child Development*, *78*, 132–147.
- Coley, R. L., & Morris, J. E. (2002). Comparing father and mother reports of father involvement among low-income minority families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *64*(4), 982-997.
- Delaney-Black, V., Covington, C., Templin, T., Ager, J., Nordstrom-Klee, B., Martier, S., & ... Sokol, R. (2000). Teacher-assessed behavior of children prenatally exposed to cocaine. *Pediatrics*, 106(4 part 1), 782-791.
- Delaney-Black, V., Chiodo, L.M., Hannigan, J., Greenwald, M.K., Janisse, J., Patterson, G., & ...
 Sokol, R.J. (2011). Prenatal and postnatal cocaine exposure predict teen cocaine use.
 Neurotoxicology And Teratology, 33(Understanding Developmental Consequences of Prenatal Drug Exposure: Biological and Environmental Effects and Their Interactions
 Special Issue in Honor of Dr. Vincent Smeriglio), 110-119. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2010.06.011
- Doherty, W. J., Kouneski, E. F., & Erickson, M. F. (1998). Responsible fathering: An overview and conceptual framework. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *60*, 277–292.
- Fagan, J., Roy, K., R., P., & Farrie, D. (2009). Pathways of paternal engagement: Longitudinal effects of risk and resilience on nonresident fathers. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(5), 1389-1405.



- Feldman, S. S., & Wentzel, K. R. (1990). The relationship between parenting styles, sons' selfrestraint, and peer relations in early adolescence. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 10(4), 439-454.
- Finley, G.E., and Schwartz, S.J. (2004). The father involvement and nurturant fathering scales: retrospective measures for adolescent and adult children. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, Vol 64(1), 143-164.
- Finn, M., & Henwood, K. (2009). Exploring masculinities within men's identificatory imaginings of first□time fatherhood. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *48*(3), 547-562.
- Flouri, E., & Buchanan, A. (2003). The role of father involvement in children's later mental health. *Journal of Adolescence*, *26*(1), 63-78. doi:10.1016/S0140-1971(02)00116-1
- Flouri, E., Malmberg, L. (2012). Fathers' involvement and preschool children's behavior in stale single-mother families. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 34, 1237-1242. Doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2012.02.020.
- Glass, J., & Owen, J. (2010). Latino fathers: The relationship among machismo, acculturation, ethnic identity, and paternal involvement. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 11(4), 251-261. doi:10.1037/a0021477
- Goldwire, T. (2012). Father Involvement As A Predictor Of Preschool Children's Academic Readiness And Socioemotional Competence. *Wayne State University Theses*. Paper 208.
- Gonzalez, M., Jones, D. J., Kincaid, C. Y., & Cuellar, J. (2012). Neighborhood context and adjustment in African American youths from single mother homes: The intervening role of hopelessness. *Cultural Diversity And Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 18(2), 109-117. doi:10.1037/a0026846



- Goodenow, C. (1993). The psychological sense of school membership among adolescents: Scale development and educational correlates. *Psychology in the Schools*, *30*, 79-90.
- Grantham, T. C., & Henfield, M. S. (2011). Black Father Involvement in Gifted Education: Thoughts from Black Fathers on Increasing/Improving Black Father-Gifted Teacher Partnerships. *Gifted Child Today*, 34(4), 47-53.
- Greene, A. D., Halle, T. G., Le Menestrel, S. M., & Moore, K. A. (2001). Measuring father involvement in young children's lives: Recommendations for a fatherhood module for the ECLS-B. 2001-2002.
- Greenwald, M. K., Chiodo, L. M., Hannigan, J. H., Sokol, R. J., Janisse, J. J., & Delaney-Black, V. V. (2011). Teens with heavy prenatal cocaine exposure respond to experimental social provocation with escape not aggression. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, (2), 198. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2010.06.008
- Grief, G., Hrabowski, F., & Maton, K. (1998). African American fathers of high achieving sons:
 Using outstanding members of an at-risk population to guide intervention. *Families in Society*, 79, 45-52.
- Hambleton, R. K. (1995). [Review of the Metropolitan Achievement Test, Seventh Edition]. In J.C. Conoley & J. C. Impara (Eds.), The twelfth mental measurements yearbook (pp. 606-610). Lincoln, NE: Buros Institute of Mental Measurements.
- Hawkins, A.J., and Palkovitz, R. (1999). Beyond ticks and clicks: The need for more diverse and broader conceptualizations and measures of father involvement. *Journal of Men's Studies*, 8, 11-32.



- Henry, K. (2010). Academic achievement and adolescent drug use: an examination of reciprocal effects and correlated growth trajectories. *Journal of School Health, 80(1),* 38-43. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2009.00455.x
- Hetherington, E.M. (1992). I. Coping with marital transitions: A family systems perspective. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 57, 1-14.
- Hollingshead, A.B. (1975). Four Factor Index of Social Status. Unpublished manuscript, Department of Social Work, Yale University, New Haven, CT.
- Hummer, R. A., & Hamilton, E. R. (2010). Race and ethnicity in fragile families. *The Future of Children, 20*(2), 113–131. doi:10.1353/foc.2010.0003
- Hussong, A. M., Huang, W., Serrano, D., Curran, P. J., & Chassin, L. (2012). Testing Whether and when Parent Alcoholism Uniquely Affects Various Forms of Adolescent Substance Use. *Journal Of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 40(8), 1265-1276.
- Hwang, W., & Goto, S. (2009). The impact of perceived racial discrimination on the mental health of Asian American and Latino college students. *Asian American Journal Of Psychology*, S(1), 15-28. doi:10.1037/1948-1985.S.1.15
- Jarrett, R.L., Roy, K.M., and Burton, L.M. (2012). Fathers in the "Hood": Insights From Qualitative Research on Low-Income African-American Men. In N.J. Cabrera & C.S. Tamis-LeMonda (Eds.), *Handbook of father involvement [electronic resource]: multidisciplinary perspectives* (pp. 211-248). New York: Routledge.
- Jiménez-Iglesias, A., Moreno, C., Rivera, F., & García-Moya, I. (2013). The Role of the Family in Promoting Responsible Substance Use in Adolescence. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, *22*(5), 585-602.



- Kersten-Alvarez, L., Hosman, C., Riksen-Walraven, J., Doesum, K., Smeekens, S., & Hoefnagels, C. (2012). Early School Outcomes for Children of Postpartum Depressed Mothers: Comparison with a Community Sample. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 43(2), 201-218.
- Khan, A. (2012). Sex Differences in Educational Encouragement and Academic Achievement. *Psychological Reports*, *111*(1), 149-155.
 doi:10.2466/10.11.21.PR0.111.4.149-155
- Lamb, M. E., Frodi, A. M., Hwang, C. P., & Frodi, M. (1982). Varying degrees of paternal involvement in infant care: Attitudinal and behavioral correlates. *Nontraditional families: parenting and child development/edited by Michael E. Lamb.*
- Lamb, M. (1986). The Changing Roles of Fathers. In M.E. Lamb (Ed.), *The Father's Role: Applied Perspectives* (pp. 3-27). New York: Wiley-Interscience.
- Lamb, M. E. (2000). The history of research on father involvement: An overview. *Marriage & Family Review*, 29(2-3), 23-42.
- Lamb, M. E. (2010). How do fathers influence children's development? Let me count the ways. *The role of the father in child development*, 1.
- Lamb, M. E. (2012). Nonresidential Fathers and Their Children. In N.J. Cabrera & C.S. Tamis-LeMonda (Eds.), Handbook of father involvement [electronic resource]: multidisciplinary perspectives (pp. 169-184). New York: Routledge.
- Lamb, M. E., Pleck, J. H., Charnov, E., & Levine, J. A. (1985). Paternal behaviour in humans. *American Zoologist, 25*, 883–894.
- Lamb, M.E., Pleck, J.H., Charnov, E.L., and Levine, J.A. (1987). A Biosocial Perspective on Paternal Behavior and Involvement. In J.B. Lancaster, J. Altmann, A.S. Rossi, and L.R.



Sherrod (Eds.), *Parenting Across the Lifespan: Biosocial Dimensions* (pp. 111-142). New York: Aldine de Gruyter.

- Leavell, A. S., Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Ruble, D. N., Zosuls, K. M., & Cabrera, N. J. (2011). African American, White and Latino Fathers' Activities with their Sons and Daughters in Early Childhood. Sex Roles, 66(1-2), 53–65. doi:10.1007/s11199-011-0080-8
- Li, S. T., Nussbaum, K. M. and Richards, M. H. (2007), Risk and protective factors for urban African-American youth. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 39, 21–35. doi:10.1007/s10464-007-9088-1
- Lowe, J., Erickson, S., MacLean, P., Schrader, R., & Fuller, J. (2013). Association of maternal scaffolding to maternal education and cognition in toddlers born preterm and full term. *Acta Paediatrica*, *102*(1), 72-77. doi:10.1111/apa.12037
- Lundberg, S., McLanahan, S., & Rose, E. (2007). Child Gender and Father Involvement In Fragile Families. *Demography*, 44(1), 79-92.
- Makusha, T., & Richter, L. (2016). Gatekeeping and its impact on father involvement among Black South Africans in rural KwaZulu-Natal. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 18(3), 308-320. doi:10.1080/13691058.2015.1083122
- Malecki, C. K., Demaray, M. K., & Elliott, S. N. (2000). The child and adolescent social support scale. DeKalb, IL: Northern Illinois University.
- Malecki, C. K. & Demaray, M. K. (2002). Measuring perceived social support: Development of the child and adolescent social support scale (CASSS). *Psychology in the Schools, 39* (1), 1-18.



- Malecki, C. K. & Demaray, M. K. (2003). What type of support do they need? Investigating student adjustment as related to emotional, informational, appraisal, and instrumental support. School Psychology Quarterly, 18 (3), 321-252.
- Mandara, J., Rogers, S., & Zinbarg, R. (2011). The Effects of Family Structure on African American Adolescents' Marijuana Use. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, *73(3)*, 557-569.
- Mason, Z. S., Briggs, R. D., & Silver, E. J. (2011). Maternal attachment feelings mediate between maternal reports of depression, infant social–emotional development, and parenting stress. *Journal Of Reproductive & Infant Psychology*, 29(4), 382-394. doi:10.1080/02646838.2011.629994
- Matthews, D. D., Hammond, W., Nuru-Jeter, A., Cole-Lewis, Y., & Melvin, T. (2013). Racial discrimination and depressive symptoms among African-American men: The mediating and moderating roles of masculine self-reliance and John Henryism. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 14(1), 35-46. doi:10.1037/a0028436
- Mays, V. M., Cochran, S. D., & Barnes, N. W. (2007). Race, Race-Based Discrimination, and Health Outcomes Among African Americans. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58201-225. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.57.102904.190212
- Macartney, S. E. (2011). *Child poverty in the United States 2009 and 2010: Selected race groups and Hispanic origin.* US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, US Census Bureau.
- McGrew, K. S., Werder, J. K., & Woodcock, R. W. (1991). WJ-R technical manual. Itasca, IL: Riverside Publishing.
- McGrew, K. S., & Woodcock, R. W. (2001). Technical manual: Woodcock-Johnson III. Itasca, IL: Riverside Publishing.



- McGrew, K. S., Dailey, D. E. H., & Schrank, F. A. (2007). Woodcock-Johnson III/Woodcock-Johnson III Normative Update Score Differences: What the User Can Expect and Why (Woodcock-Johnson III Assessment Service Bulletin No. 9). Rolling Meadows, IL: Riverside Publishing.
- McLellan et al., 1992 Addiction Severity Index: Manual and Question by Question Guide. From The University of Pennsylvania/Veterans Administration Center for Studies of Addiction (1990). Philadelphia, PA
- McLeod, B. A. (2016). Factors associated with fathers' involvement with their children among black fathers with criminal records. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A*, 76,
- Meece, D. (2013). Resident Father-Child Involvement: Associations with Young Children's Social Development and Kindergarten Readiness in the ECLS-B. *Online Submission*.
- Melis, G., Elliot, M., & Shryane, N. (2014). Environmental concern over time: Evidence from the longitudinal analysis of a British cohort study from 1991 to 2008. Social Science Quarterly, 95(4), 905-919.
- Milam, A. J., Furr-Holden, C., Bradshaw, C. P., Webster, D. W., Cooley-Strickland, M. C., & Leaf, P. J. (2013). Alcohol Environment, Perceived Safety, and Exposure to Alcohol, Tobacco, and Other Drugs in Early Adolescence. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *41(7)*, 867-883. doi:10.1002/jcop.21579
- Mindy A., H., Olivia Silber, A., Michael A., P., Karl E., B., Jason, W., Rebecca P., S., & ...
 Joseph C., G. (n.d). Original article: Moderation and Mediation in the Relationship
 Between Mothers' or Fathers' Serious Psychological Distress and Adolescent Substance
 Use: Findings from a National Sample. Journal of Adolescent Health, 43, 141-150.
 doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.01.010 (accessed October 3, 2013).



- Mosley, J., & Thomson, E. (1995). Fathering behavior and child outcomes: The role of race and poverty.
- Murry, V. M., Bynum, M. S., Brody, G. H., Willert, A., & Stephens, D. (2001). African American single mothers and children in context: A review of studies on risk and resilience. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 4(2), 133-155.
- Nitko, A. J. (1989). [Review of the Metropolitan Achievement Test, Sixth Edition]. In J. C.Conoley & J. J. Kramer (Eds.), The tenth mental measurements yearbook (pp. 510-515).Lincoln, NE: Buros Institute of Mental Measurements.
- Nugent, J.K. (1987). The Father's Role in Early Irish Socialization: Historical and Empirical Perspectives. In M.E. Lamb (Ed.), The Father's Role: Cross-Cultural Perspectives (pp. 169-193). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Ou, S., & Reynolds, A. J. (2014). Early determinants of postsecondary education participation and degree attainment: Findings from an inner-city minority cohort. *Education And Urban Society*, 46(4), 474-504. doi:10.1177/0013124512447810
- Palkovitz, R., & Palm, G. (2009). Transitions within fathering. Fathering, (1), 3.
- Paquette, D., Coyl-Shepherd, D. D., & Newland, L. A. (2013). Fathers and development: New areas for exploration. *Early Child Development and Care*, *183*(6), 735-745.
- Parke, R. D., McDowell, D. J., Kim, M., Killian, C., Dennis, J., Flyr, M. L., & Wild, M. N. (2002). Fathers' contributions to children's peer relationships. *Handbook of father involvement: Multidisciplinary perspectives*, 141-167.
- Perry, M. A., & Fantuzzo, J. W. (2010). A Multivariate Investigation of Maternal Risks and Their Relationship to Low-Income, Preschool Children's Competencies. *Applied Developmental Science*, 14(1), 1-17. doi:10.1080/10888690903510281



- Perry, A. R., Harmon, D. K., & Leeper, J. (2012). Resident Black Fathers' Involvement: A Comparative Analysis of Married and Unwed, Cohabitating Fathers. *Journal of Family Issues*, 33(6), 695-714.
- Pleck, J. H. (2007). Why Could Father Involvement Benefit Children? Theoretical Perspectives. *Applied Developmental Science*, *11(4)*, 196-202. doi:10.1080/10888690701762068
- Pleck, J. H. (2010). Paternal involvement: Revised conceptualization and theoretical linkages with child outcomes. In M. E. Lamb, M. E. Lamb (Eds.), *The role of the father in child development (5th ed.)* (pp. 58-93). Hoboken, NJ, US: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Pleck, J. H., & Stueve, J. L. (2001). Time and paternal involvement. In K. Daly (Ed.), *Minding the time in family experience: Emerging perspectives and issues* (pp. 205–226). Oxford, UK: Elsevier Science.
- Poulin, F., & Denault, A. (2012). Other-Sex Friendships as a Mediator between Parental Monitoring and Substance Use in Girls and Boys. *Journal of Youth And Adolescence*, 41(11), 1488-1501.
- Pruett, K. D. (2000). *Fatherneed: Why father care is as essential as mother care for your child*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Radin, N. (1986). The influence of fathers on their sons and daughters. *Children & Schools*, 8(2), 77-91.
- Reid, D., Hresko, W. P., & Hammill, D. (n.d). (accessed 2013). Test of Early Reading Ability--2.
- Roettger, M. E., & Swisher, R. R. (2011). Associations of fathers' history of incarceration with sons' delinquency and arrest among Black, White, and Hispanic males in the United States. *Criminology: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 49(4), 1109-1147. doi:10.1111/j.1745-9125.2011.00253.x



- Ryan, R., Martin, A., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2006). Is one good parent good enough? Patterns of mother and father parenting and child cognitive outcomes at 24 and 36 months. *Parenting: Science & Practice*, 6(2-3), 211-228.
- Ryder, J. A., & Brisgone, R. E. (2013). Cracked Perspectives: Reflections of Women and Girls in the Aftermath of the Crack Cocaine Era. *Feminist Criminology*, 8(1), 40. doi:10.1177/1557085112444899
- Schady, N. (2011). Parents' Education, Mothers' Vocabulary, and Cognitive Development in Early Childhood: Longitudinal Evidence From Ecuador. American Journal of Public Health, 101(12), 2299-2307.
- Schofield, T., Conger, R., Conger, K., Martin, M., Brody, G., Simons, R., & Cutrona, C. (2012).
 Neighborhood Disorder and Children's Antisocial Behavior: The Protective Effect of Family Support Among Mexican American and African American Families. American *Journal of Community Psychology*, *50(1/2)*, 101-113.
- Scheiber, C. (2015). Do the Kaufman Tests of Cognitive Ability and Academic Achievement Display Construct Bias Across a Representative Sample of Black, Hispanic, and Caucasian School-Age Children in Grades 1 Through 12? *Psychological Assessment*, doi:10.1037/pas0000236.
- Seaton, E., Neblett Jr., E., Cole, D., Prinstein, M. (2013). Perceived Discrimination and Peer Victimization Among African American and Latino Youth. *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 42, 342-350. DOI: 10.1007/s10964-012-98-48-6.
- Shapiro, T. M. (2004). *The hidden cost of being African American: How wealth perpetuates inequality*. Oxford University Press, USA.



- Smith, T. E. (1989). Mother □ Father Differences in Parental Influence on School Grades and Educational Goals. *Sociological Inquiry*, *59*(1), 88-98.
- Somers, C.L., and Gizzi, T.J. (2001). Predicting adolescents' risky behaviors: The influence of future orientation, school involvement, and school attachment. *Adolescent & Family Health*, Vol 2(1), 2001, 3-11.
- Swisher, R. R., Kuhl, D. C., & Chavez, J. M. (2013). Racial and Ethnic Differences in Neighborhood Attainments in the Transition to Adulthood. Social Forces, 91(4), 1399-1428.
- Tynes, B. M., Rose, C. A., & Markoe, S. L. (2013). Extending campus life to the Internet: Social media, discrimination, and perceptions of racial climate. *Journal of Diversity In Higher Education*, 6(2), 102-114. doi:10.1037/a0033267
- Vaughan-Jensen, J., Adame, C., McLean, L., & Gámez, B. (2011). Test review of Wechsler Individual Achievement Test (3rd ed.). *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 29(3), 286-291. doi:10.1177/0734282910385645
- Verhoeven, M., Bögels, S., & Bruggen, C. (2012). Unique Roles of Mothering and Fathering in Child Anxiety; Moderation by Child's Age and Gender. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 21(2), 331-343.
- Wachs, T., Uzgiris, I., and Hunt, J. (1971). Cognitive Development in Infants of Different Age Levels and from Different Environmental Backgrounds. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 17, 283-317.
- Wang, L., Wu, T., Anderson, J. L., & Florence, J. E. (2011). Prevalence and Risk Factors of Maternal Depression During the First Three Years of Child Rearing. *Journal of Women's Health (15409996)*, 20(5), 711-718. doi:10.1089/jwh.2010.2232



- Ward, L. M. (2004). Wading Through the Stereotypes: Positive and Negative Associations Between Media Use and Black Adolescents' Conceptions of Self. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(2), 284.
- Wechsler, D. (1981). WAIS-R manual: Wechsler adult intelligence scale-revised. Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (1989). WPPSI-R, Manual: Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence, Revised. New York, NY: Psychological Corporation.
- Xu, Q., & Yeung, W. (2013). Hoping for a Phoenix: Shanghai Fathers and Their Daughters. *Journal of Family Issues*, *34*(2), 182-207. doi:10.1177/0192513X12461245
- Yarrow, L.J., MacTurk, R.H., Vietze, P.M., McCarthy, M.E., Klein, R.P., McQuiston, S. (1984). Developmental Course of Parental Stimulation and Its Relationship to Mastery Motivation During Infancy. *Developmental Psychology*, 20, 492-503.
- Zarefsky, D. (2005). President Johnson's war on poverty: Rhetoric and history. University of Alabama Press.



ABSTRACT

URBAN AFRICAN AMERICAN YOUTHS' ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE AS RELATED TO THEIR FATHERS' INVOLVEMENT DURING DEVELOPMENT

by

TRAVIS A. GOLDWIRE

August 2016

Advisor: Dr. Christopher Trentacosta

Major: Psychology (Clinical)

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Father involvement in the context of urban African American youth was examined using a subsample (n = 556) of a large cohort of participants followed longitudinally through development. Data was collected at regular intervals (e.g., Age 7, 14, 19 and young adult). Young adults (n = 93) were surveyed for retrospective accounts of their fathers' involvement in their lives before age 18. In the young adult data collection phase (the main subject of this project), most participants reported varying levels and frequency of involvement from their fathers while growing up, including helping at school, providing social support, and encouraging academic achievement. Most participants performed below average on measures of academic performance during development though a good many were enrolled in post-secondary education at the time this data was collected. Hierarchical linear multiple regressions were used in statistical analyses, and there were very few statistically significant associations between father involvement and academic performance. There were also no consistent gender differences present with relation to father involvement. This study showed support for the many ways in which fathers are present in African American children's lives over time. Also, this study gives validity to the congruence that exists between the views of father involvement between mother and young adult reports.



AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

I was born in Wurzburg, Germany to Nathaniel Goldwire and Marilyn Hall, both on active duty in the U.S. Army. I spent my formative years in Georgia, where both my parents were stationed at Fort Benning. I attended high school both at Columbus High School (Georgia; 1997-1998) and Smiths Station High School (Alabama; 1998-2001)—where I graduated as valedictorian. Growing up, I visited my grandparents in Lansing, MI, and always imagined that I would attend either the University of Michigan or Michigan State University. I applied to both schools and was accepted, but it was ultimately a really great scholarship package from Hope College in Holland, MI, that drew me there, where I graduated Magna Cum Laude (2001-2005). During this time, I began my career in research with a project investigating Hispanic youth in the area with Dr. Lorna Hernandez-Jarvis, exploring their attitudes toward acculturation and bilingualism. After college, I worked for Hope's Admissions Office (2005-2009) until I finalized my plans for graduate school. I eventually enrolled at Wayne State University (2009-2016) where I completed my studies in clinical psychology with an emphasis on child development and a minor in statistics. I worked in a laboratory with my mentor, Christopher Trentacosta, where I received exceptional hands-on experience in conducting research. Additionally, I gained much clinical experience through practica and community placements with various agencies in Detroit, culminating in the defense of my master's thesis in July 2012. Upon completion of academic requirements, I applied for and was selected for a pre-doctoral APAaccredited residency with the United States Air Force at Wilford Hall Ambulatory Surgical Center at Lackland AFB, San Antonio, Texas (2014-2015). During this time I became a commissioned officer at the rank of Captain. I now serve as a staff clinical psychologist at my first duty station at Dover AFB, Delaware, where I am the Officer in Charge of psychological testing and assessment as well as the mental health liaison to the Explosive Ordinance Disposal (EOD) unit.

